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PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION.
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THE actors in what has been called the heroic work
of colonization are rapidly passing away in Australia.
'Of those who landed with Giovernor Phillip none now
remain. Of those born after he laid the foundation
of Sydney many have been gathered to their fathers
at ages surpassing the term usually allotted to man.
Of the daily wants and toils, the struggles of the
hearth and the contentions of the forum, of the
carly Australian settlers, witness after witness has
vanished, and no precise record has been made of
the manner in which they wrestled with their
difficulties. In default of such a record, incorrect
narrations might be accepted without distrust, and
quoted without misgiving. Persuasion of many
friends that I should prepare a correct narrative,
and a desire on my own part that it should be
prepared, have produced the following work. It is
the result of long residence in Australia, and of
acquaintance with some of those who assisted
the early Governors in the task of controlling men
and subduing the earth. I have seen one generation
succeed another, and have observed the careers of
public men in more than one of the colonies which
have sprung into existence as offshoots of New Souta
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Wales or as separate plantations. Facts connected
with their growth have been daily under my notice.
To distinguish those which are momentous from
those which are insignificant in principle, may be
as easy for a distant investigator as for one who lives
on the spot. To know how men’s minds were
disturbed by events which might seem trivial to
strangers abroad, is given only to those who have
moved upon the scene. As a resident in various
rural districts, as a holder of public office, as a
magistrate, as mayor of a borough, and in other
ways, I have had ample opportunities of becoming
acquainted with the course of events. Copious
materials in the shape of official reports and blue-
books are at the command of all. As to facts they
convey authentic information. The opinions they
contain require to be balanced with a knowledge of
the characters of the writers, and such knowledge is
greatly promoted by perusal of those confidential
letters which show the inner workings of the mind.
Of such manuscripts I have been able to make large
use, and the following pages show what valuable trea-
sures have hitherto been neglected or unknown, and
how in their absence false notions have been enter-
tained. When it has been needful to controvert often-
repeated mis-statements minute precision has been
necessary ; because in such a case it is not enough
to make mere assertions. It is incumbent to fortify
each position by cumulating circumstantial proofs.
The world, moreover, exacts, in modern days, details
which greatly lengthen books, and such a process
has the approval of one of the most sagacious of
men.}

! Dean Swift (to Bolingbroke, 1719): I must heg two things; first,

that you will not omit any passage hecause you think it of little moment ;
and secondly, that you will write to an ignorant world, and not suppose
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In marshalling the facts which prove how much
error has been accepted as truth with regard to the
pilgrim fathers of Australia, I have allowed the
actors to speak for themselves as much as possible.
An author may labour to incorporate as the coinage
of his own brain the wit or sense which emanated
from those of whom he writes; but success in such
effort would be, after all, ignoble, and would rob his
page of the dramatic element which makes it lifelike.
The day will come when men will be glad to know
how the colonizers of Australia lived and moved ;
what were their daily tasks and distractions; how
and by whom troubles were created or overcome ; by
what passions men were stirred from time to time ;
how sometimes the blasts of tyranny were resisted
by the growing plant, and how were engendered
within it parasites which preyed upon its powers and
threatened to bring low many a noble bough fitted
to adorn it in season, and to render back the healthy
sap which, coursing from root to branch, gives health
and life to the tree.

If events and their causes have been rightly
recorded and traced in the following pages, it must
be admitted that for some evils in the colonies the
British Government has been largely responsible.
The most successful colonization is that which founds
abroad a society similar to that of the parent country.
The composite forces which built and sustained the
England of the past have not been cherished in her
colonies. She scattered the seeds of one, but refused

your reader to be only of the present age, or to live within ten miles of
London. There is nothing more vexes me in old historians than when
they leave me in the dark in some passages which they suppose every one
to know.” The hope of future usefulness must support a writer in the
least attractive portions of his work. Already I have reaped some reward.
One critic objected to the microscopic accuracy of my ¢ History of New
Zealand;” but the London ““Spectator” (26th May, 1333) commended %
for being as trustwerthy as it was minute.
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to plant the other, and the fields have answered to her
tilth. The greatest of modern English Statesmen
strove to remedy the defect in North America, but
apathy and obstruction among those who lacked his
prophetic vision palsied his attempt, and a deadly
Struggle with a continent armed under Napoleon con-
sumed the energies both of his country and of Pitt.
Wentworth essayed to confer upon his countrymen a
constitution framed as closely as practicable in
conformity with that of England, but he found
admirers only, and not supporters, of his attempt to
fix in the social and political fabric the principle
which, by distinction of the worthiest, stirs genera-
tion after generation to maintain the honour of their
families, and the glory of their native land. The
soul of goodness in ancient English institutions may
be thanied for the fact that even when maimed they
render useful service. If there were no Providence
to shape their ends men might despair of the results
of their hewing.

What those results have been in Australia must
ever be deeply interesting, not only to the colonists
but to their kindred in the parent land. The
administration of the Crown domains, and the
development of forms of government in different
colonies, are engrossing subjects of inquiry, and their
phases still undergoing change (subject to the
unconquerable conditions of nature), have compelled
me to trace them to more recent times than I
contemplated when I took up my pen, and hoped to-
pause at the cra in which local was substituted for
Tmperial control. But it was impossible to record
the events of 1856 without allusions to living persons,
and it then became idle to shrink from depicting
more recent times in which vital problems have been

variously dealt with in different places. The hand
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on the plough is compelled to follow the furrow or
to leave untouched many portions of the field which
must in time produce tares or wheat. A faithful
narrative may indeed fail to satisfy some persons;
but when has truth been told without giving
umbrage !  The history which does not aim at truth
is despicable; and, whether neglected or popular,
the narrative wlnch after carefu%leeearch escribes
things as they were and are, is the only one from
which a writer ought to derive satisfaction. Such
a narrative I have striven to put before my country-
men; so that, if they will, they may know what
their kinsmen have done in the work of colonization
in Australia. Conscious that, in spite of all pains
taken to avoid error, so eomprehenswe a work
cannot be free from defects I part with it in con-
fidence that I have spared no effort to secure
accuracy. As I pen these lines I am beset with
mingled memories of the land of cloud, and the land
of sun. Close to Leith Hill Place, where I was
born, I retwrn from Australia after experiences of
fifty years; and, seated in one of the most classic
spots of my native county—the abode of John
Evelyn,—I conclude the preface with which I
commit to the public the last work which it can be
my fortune to undertake.

Wotton House, Surrey,
30th July, 1883.



PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION.

A rEw prefatory words are needed for the Second
Edition of the “History of Australia.”

The Preface to the first is still a guide to the
principle on which the History was framed, and
which has been adhered to in the second edition.
Condensation, excisions, and additions have been
made; and criticisms on the first edition have, 1t
may be hoped, contributed to the improvement of
the second.

The statement of the Quarterly Review (April,
1885), that the History “must always be the
standard authority on all points relating to the
early history and growth of the Australian colonies,”
is a strong incentive to an author to strive to merit
such praise.

There is one unpublished testimony from which a
few lines may be quoted. Sir W. W. Burton, a
Supreme Court Judge, often mentioned in the
History, though blind when it was published, heard
it read, and dictated a letter to the author, in which
he congratulated his acquaintance of “more than
forty years, on being the writer of two profound
books, the historian of countries newly founded,
whose uncertain origin you have explained, and in
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the case of Australia, as I can vouch, very power-
fully and very interestingly.”

After the publication of the first edition of this
History the Government of New South Wales
entered, officially, upon the task of preparing a
history of that colony. The first volume appeared
in 1889, and the second in 1894. The period
covered by the two volumes was about seven years.
Four bulky volumes of “Historical Records” of New
South Wales (up to 1802) have also been published
by the Government.

Such arsenals of past facts, though of great value
to students, leave room for a history framed to
embody the spirit of the time rather than to register
every daily occurrence.

Amongst the “Historical Records” are numerous
papers in the possession of the Hon. P. G. King,
M.L.C,, in New South Wales. They throw a
flood of light upon the time with which they deal.
The original MSS, lent to the author many years
ago, justified him in the hope' that he might
present the “age and body of the time, its form
and pressure,” with the aid of the old Governor’s
manuscripts, which had been carefully preserved in
a chest, until his grandson—their present owner—
brought them to light, and placed them at the
author’s disposal.®

' Vol. I, p. 382.

2 The fourth volume of the ‘Historical Records” appeared after chapter
V. of this History was in type. If it had appeared before, it would have
been cited in the text to confirm the views 0? the author as to the disorders
which Governor King had to check (Vol. 2, pp. 214—217, 219—231, 234—
237, 380, 381). It appears (p. 228) that Colonel Paterson wrote (8th
October 1800) to Sir Josecph Banks that before King’s arrival in 1800—
‘‘the government was getting every day into greater confusion in con-

uence of the immense quantities of spirits that got amongst the lower
order of settlers and convicts. Although Governor King did not take the
command until the 28th ult., the day that Governor Hunter embarked, his
presence and the steps he recommended have already had their good

A2
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Other members of Governor King’s family laid
the author under obligations by submitting to him
copious manuscripts of the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries.

The late Sir William Macarthur, of Camden Park,
also gave him access to similar documents, and
enriched their contents from the stores of his
spacious memory during the author’s visits to his
house. In England, in 1882, the author examined
original documents at the Record Office, which
furnished no reason for shaking confidence in the
King and Macarthur MSS, but, on the contrary,
contained many proofs of their accuracy.

Some space has been devoted to records of the
aboriginal tribes of Australia; and the author has
endeavoured to weave into his narrative facts brought
under his own knowledge in various parts of the conti-
nent. Some of the habits of the race he had striven
to record in a rhymed legend (Moyarra) very many
years ago. It is one of the pleasing reminiscences of
a stay i London that the late Lord Bowen (one of
Her Majesty’s Judges, and the gifted translator of
Virgil) assured him that the legend was “charming.”
The natives are chiefly mentioned in this Preface,
however, in order to refer to a matter which ought
to have been alluded to in the second chapter, but
cannot now be inscerted there as the printing has
been completed. ‘

The Australians had a method of communicating
with their friends by means of lines graven on sticks
despatched from tribe to tribe. The author’s
recollection of the method (after lapse of half a

effect.” Paterson’s opportunities of acquiring information were unsur-
passed. Besides commanding the military, when he thus wrote, he had
acted as Governor in 1794 and 1795: and after an absence on leave he
returned to Sydney in November, 1799, in time to obscrve the effects of
Hunter's incapacity.
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century) is that certain graven symbols were agreed
upon as a warning of certain facts. Not words, but
ideas were signified by certain marks. The institu-
tion of heralds (mentioned in page 102 of chap. 2)
facilitated the-conveyance of messages by means of
the marks; and if the author’s memory be not

dimmed by lapse of time, the marks employed by
one system of tribes were not the same as those
employed by another. The minutest deviation from
the approa)riate symbol would be at once detected.
The Kamilaroi tribes were numerous, and a summons
to war could rapidly be sent in many directions if
danger was apprehended. The subject seems to
have been recently discussed at a meeting of the
British Association.?

There has been much discussion as to the extent
to which Captain Cook’s own words were embodied
in the official narrative edited by Dr. (afterwards Sir)
John Hawkesworth.* The Admiralty confided to

3 Dr. Harley gave an address, illustrated by specimens, on  Points of
Resemblance between Irish Ogams of the Past and the Australian Abor-
igines’ Stick-writing of the Present.” He pointed out that an understand-
ing of the principles of the fast-dying srst;em in Australia of conveying
ideas by horizontal straight lines might afford a clue to the better
interpretation of the ancient Irish ogams, as these two systems resemble
each other, as not only the form but to a certain extent the modes of
arrgngement were identical. The Gilas of Central Asia also had the same
lineal form of writing, the same grouping of the characters, and a
distinctly columnar arrangement. Dr. Harley thought that the Australian
aborigines had advanced one stage beyond tﬂe ancient Irish, inasmuch as
they possessed two distinctly different kinds of line characters, small and
large, analogous to our capital letters, and also adopted the plan of
emphasizing the small characters by turning them into a kind of italics.
All the natives did not write alike. The woman’s sign character was
shown on the screen, and also a man’s, more developed, which was said to
curiously resemble that of the Samoyeds of the Arctic regions. Some were
again less developed, and still in the stage of picture and hieroglyphic
writing. The written language was illustrated by the representation of a
secret war message.— Times, 24th September, 1896.

¢ ¢«“Hawkesworth’s Voyages,” London, 1773. It is only fair to Hawkes-
worth to say that he stated that he submitted his cm\\Q"\ls.t.'\cn 0 Danks
and Solander, ‘‘in whose hands as well as in those of Captain Cock tThe
work was left for a considerable time.”



xiv PREFACE.

Hawkesworth all the Journals kept by Cook, Banks,

and others on board of the Endearour. Hawkesworth

explained in his Preface that the book was compiled

from the Journals of Cook, Banks, and others, “all

parties acquiescing” in the arrangement that Hawkes-
worth should use the first person (in the name of
Cook) throughout.

The journal of Sir Joseph Banks was copious,
and for many years towards the close of the nine-
teenth century there was an uneasy feeling that
Hawkesworth had given to the public too little of
Cook and too much of Banks; although Hawkes-
worth plainly stated that he received Cook’s Journal
from the Admiralty before he received that of
Banks.

Some sceptics went so far as to contend at great
length, that Cook did not name Botany Bay, Port
Jackson, or New South Wales, and the absence of
Cook’s ipsissima verba left the field open to doubters.

Even in the “Historical Records of New South
Wales,” published by the Government in 1893, the
editor said, “It is a remarkable fact that nowhere
in the orlgmal papers of either Cook or any of his
officers does the name ‘New South Wales’ appear.
As in the case of Botany Bay it seems to have been
an afterthought” . . . “there is no foundation
for the popular impression that Cook bestowed the
name New South Wales on the territory.

The name appears to have originated with Haw kes-
worth.”

Cook’s Journal, published in England in 1893,
decided the matter. On the 22nd August 1770, he
wrote: “In the name of His Majesty King George
the Third I took possession of the whole Eastern
Coast (from lat. 37° down to this place) by the name

of New South Wales.”
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In 1893 all doubts were dissipated by the
publication of Cook’s own journal by the Hydro-
grapher of the Admiralty, Captain Wharton. It
was found that no less than three copies of Cook’s
Journal were extant. The copy in possession of the
Admiralty contained the narrative of the close of
the voyage, which was not contained in the others.
Cook wrote (30th Sept. 1770) “In the AM. I
took into my possession the officers’, petty officers’,
and seamen’s Log Books, and Journals, at least, all
that I could find, and enjoined every one not to
divulge where they had been.” On the 25th
October he sent from “Onrust near Batavia’—“a
copy of my journal containing the proceedings of
the whole voyage,” with charts. “In this Journal
I have with undisguised truth and without gloss
inserted the whole transactions of the voyage.”

When Cook arrived in England, six months
afterwards, ‘“the full Journal of the voyage was
deposited at the Admiralty.”®

The naming of Botany Bay was thus recorded by
Cook. “The great quantity of plants Mr. Banks
and Dr. Solander found in this place occasioned my
giving it the name of Botany Bay.”

On the 6th May he wrote of Port Jackson: “We
were about two or three miles from the land, and
abreast of a bay, wherein there appeared to be safe
anchorage, which I called Port Jackson.”

In this edition the author has in all cases quoted
Cook’s words, which are as graphic as those of Defoe.

Something may be said as to the historical
advantages or disadvantages attendant upon writing

s {)taiu Wharton (Preface, p. viii). The three copies of Cook’s
Journal, Captain Wharton says, are—‘‘practically identical except for the
period 13th to 19th August 1770, during which the wording ® oiwen
different though the events are the same.” 'The period was criticel »
will be seen (Vol. L., pp. 10, 11).
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a history of times during a portion of which the
author has moved among those whom it is his duty
to describe. :

Personal considerations may be dismissed as

unworthy of contemplation. If he tell the truth
an author cannot avoid making enemies; and if he
palter with it he can deserve no friends.
- In the present case the author has derived
unspeakable assistance from local associations. He
has conversed with some of those who were colonists
in the eighteenth century, and with many thousands
among the generations which succeeded the first
comers. Such conversations have revealed the
hopes and fears, and explained many of the turmoils
of the past. Men’s motives become known to their
contemporaries. Often they make no attempt to
conceal them, and they could not conceal them if
they would. Friends betray what enemies long to
discover.

The atmosphere of an epoch 1s a part of it, and he
who breathes it must indeed be dull if he be in no
degree imbued with the spirit of the time. History
should be a picture of the past, and sight of the past
is useful to him who would depict it.

It is not for the author to say whether he has
profited by his opportunities; but it is right to
acknowledge his obligations.

Cotmandene,
South Yarra, 8th May, 1897.
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AUSTRALIA.

CHAPTER 1.

TrEe history of a country, and of the growth of its people
amongst the family of nations, has seldom a clearly-defined
starting-point. There is usually a long period of gloom
in the far distant past, which challenges antiquarian re-
searches, and leaves an inquirer doubtful whether to accept
the traditions of a Livy, or to join in the iconoclasm of a
Niebuhr. If the inhabitants, when first emerging from
that gloom, could foresee the interest which future ages
would take in their early fortunes, how sedulously would
they guard each relic of the past, how scrupulously would
they record each fact about which, though in their own
time there might be no room for doubt, disputes in after-
time cluster like bees about a hive! Even in our own day,
when books and pamphlets are like autumn leaves in
abundance—and in fate—how much need is there for judg-
ment in prosecuting an inquiry! How strong and yet
how contradictory are the assertions made; how studiously
analytic must he be who would weave the conflicting
elements into a trustworthy narration! How frequently is
it found that the audacity of a contemporary writer has so
coloured events that the plain tint of truth runs risk of
being lost for ever. _

The historian of Australia has no period of mythical
gloom to explore with regard to the British who subdued
and replenished the land ; but, in selecting facts and valuing
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2 RUMOURS OF A “GREAT SOUTH LAND.”

statements, needs as much care and patience as he who
would narrate the rise and progress of modern Germany.
The scene is different, but the actors are the same ; human
beings struggling mainly for personal gain, but even then
subserving some higher purpose beyond their ken; and
amid the turmoil, like salt to preserve the mass from
corruption, those finer spirits, ‘touched to fine issues,”
which redeem the general character, and amidst whose
judgments may be found a clue to the tangled labyrinth
into which investigation must often lead the historian. -

There is danger lest one who has lived within a portion
of the time he chronicles should himself fail to preserve a
just diserimination; but, if he has not been himself im-
mersed in party quarrels, if his desire be to probe the facts
and declare the truth, his personal experiences are so far
advantageous that they may restrain him from accepting
ignorant or wilful mis-statements made by those who have
only a party purpose to serve.

How long*the aborigines of Australia had roamed over
its soil when Europeans first explored the coast, it is for
ethnologists to discuss—perhaps without result. That they
occupied sparsely the whole area, many centuries ago, is
indisputable, and that their rate of migration must have
been slow is equally clear. Diverse as were their dialects,
when heard by Europeans, they are of common origin;
although the marked difference between the language of
contiguous tribes might lead careless observers to a different
conclusion. When such persons find tribes scattered on
hundreds of miles of the coast using similar words, and
note that at a short distance inland a distinet dialect is
spoken, they omit to observe that families dispersed along
the coast would still cling to it, and would have occasional
intercourse with their kindred of late date, but not with
tribes in the interior; while the inland inhabitants, beyond
the watershed of the coast range, who in many cases
reached their domains by ascending the rivers which
traverse the continent from east to west, would keep up
their tribal intercourse in like manner through accustomed
channels.

Rumours of a Great South Land were rife long before
Europeans trod upon its shores. In the ‘‘ Astronomicon”
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of Manilius, attributed to the first century, the form of the

earth is thus described :
‘¢ Pars ejus ad arctos
Fminet, Austrinis pars est habitabilis oris,
Sub pedibusque jacet nostris.”

Many rumours may have been due to idle guesses, but
some may have sprung from authentic information derived
from voyagers in the Indian Seas, who doubtless visited the
north coast of Australia, as the Malays visited it in later
times.

Had any navigator in the sixteenth century by chance
discovered the west coast it is improbable that direct
results would have ensued. The Portuguese, the Spaniards,
the Dutch, and the English contended for posts of com-
merce, not for soil on which they might create new homes.
For more than a century Malacca was prized by the Portu-
guese, and for a longer period by the Dutch, not as a sphere
for colonization, but on account of the trade which it
attracted and controlled.

A post of observation on the coast of Australia would
have attracted no one, and would have commanded no
trade. Yet the student of history will cast a thought upon
the mysterious slumber which reigned over so vast and
neglected a portion of the globe, while small but luxuriant
spots were keenly contended for by Europeans, who were
debarred from making in such uncongenial climates their
permanent homes. Their ships and buildings were con-
verted into hospitals, and the soil of their possessions into
graves; while within easy reach, and even then visited by
the seafaring Malay, was a land possessing an unsurpassed
climate, with resources only now being unlocked, while four
millions of Britons are gathered upon it.! So little power
have men’s pretensions to determine the conditions of
future wealth or greatness! The Pope and the Emperor
allotted and claimed continents by what they called Divine
right; while silently, but openly under their eyes, the race
for whom Divine Providence had reserved the mastery was
pitching its humble tents in the New World of America.
Again in the South the same drama has been enacted. To

' The estimated population in 1893, including New Zealand, was more

than 4,000,000,
B2
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Spain, to Portugal, to Holland there remain possessions of
questionable value (excepting Java, once taken and restored
by the English), and none of them are adapted for European
constitutions. To the descendants of the seafaring North-
men has fallen a continent, poor when found, but capable
of making rich; holding out no luxuries for barter, but
having a climate and soil which invite the re-enactment in
Australia of the marvel in America, where the colony largely
outnumbers the parent state.

It is perhaps impossible to determine who first ascertained
the existence and form of the Great South Land. Those
who are curious upon the subject will find it exhaustively
dealt with in various publications by R. H. Major, F.S.A.,?
and others. There are not wanting statements which
would imply that something was known about the north
coast of Australia in the beginning of the sixteenth century.
But in most cases the descriptions and the maps indicated
no separation between New Guinea and the South Land,
generally called “La Grande Jave.” Moreover, with re-
gard to a time when the Spanish and the Portuguese con-
tended about their discoveries, the best of their maps are so
wide of the truth that it may safely be affirmed that some
of their contents are guesses. That the Portuguese were
established at the Moluccas in 1512 seems to be admitted.
That there were maps which were made before the year
1542, and which represent a great land called ‘‘Jave La
Grande,” is also true. One of these maps in the British
Museum was presented by Sir Joseph Banks in 1790. Two
others, also in the Museum, are in a volume, dated 1542,
presented by one Jean Rotz to Henry VIII. The dedication
declares that the maps are made ‘‘au plus certain et vray
qu’il ma esté possible de faire, tant par mon experience
propre, que par la certaine experience de mes amys et com-
pagnons navigateurs.” In all these maps, however, the sea
or strait between ‘“ The Lytil Java’ and ‘“Java La Grande,”
or ‘“the Londe of Java,” is 8o inaccurately represented that
one sees at a glance that guess-work, or assumption, or
hearsay, was resorted to. In the Jean Rotz map of 1542,
the east shore of Jave la Grande (the Great South Land) is

2 «“Early Voyages to Terra Australis.” London: printed for the Hakluyt
Society. 1859, &c.
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carried far to the eastward of the true position of Australia.
In another map, the east coast of Australia is similarly
misrepresented ; and, strangely enough, because on the
fancied eastward extension the mapmaker wrote ‘ Coste des
Herbaiges,” it has been suggested that some voyager in the
sixteenth century had been to Botany Bay—a place quite
innocent of pasture in its natural state. In a map to
illustrate the voyages of Drake and Cavendish, New Guinea
is represented as an island anterior to the voyage of the
Spaniard Torres, who (having been separated from his com-
mander, Quiros) sailed between Australia and New Guinea
in 1606, but supposed the coast of Australia to be a series
of islands; a supposition which proves that the maps of
1542 were not generally known, or were not trusted by the
navigators of 1606. In the same manner islands were seen
in the Pacific and were supposed by Quiros to be portions of
a continent. In 1606, it seems that a Dutchman command-
ing the Duyfhen, sent out to explore New Guinea, sighted a
part of Australia and assumed that it was a part of New
Guinea. From all such casual and uncertain glimpses but
little real knowledge could be gained. If the lands thus
gseen had been occupied by inhabitants with whom trade
could have been established results would have ensued even
from these glimpses; but, as it was, they must be looked
upon merely as a kind of hearsay unworthy of the title of
discoveries.

It is certain that the Dutch had no knowledge of a strait
between New Guinea and the South Land, for when they
sent Tasman, in 1644, to explore, they told him that they
thought there was no such strait.

There is no doubt, however, that in 1616 the Dutchman
Dirk Hartog, on a voyage from Holland to India, saw and
landed on Australian soil at Shark Bay, and left a record
of the fact which was found afterwards by his countryman,
Van Vlaming, in 1697, and by the French navigator,
Hamelin, in 1801. Other Dutch mariners saw other parts
of the coast, and Nuyts Land and Cape Leeuwin are
memorials of the fact. The name of another Dutchman
(Carpenter) was given to the Gulf of Carpentaria. Captain
Pelsaert, of the ship Batavia, escaping in a boat, was said
to have left shipwrecked comrades at Houtman’s Abrolhas
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New Holland in 1688. After accidents by flood and field,
Dampier found his way to England, where he was well
received, and the government gave him the command of an
exploring vessel—the Roebuck. Reaching the west coast
of Australia at the bay which he called Shark Bay, he
examined the shore and the islands. He explained
that on no part of the coast he saw was there any pos-
sibility of barter with the natives, who had nothing to
give in exchange. No man then thought it desirable to
occupy the land for its own sake. Dampier earned from
foreigners the highest reputation for skill and exactitude.
De Brosses exclaimed: ‘“Ou trouve t'on de navigateurs
comparables & Dampier 2

The greater part of a century elapsed before anything
more than casual visits and desultory notes were to be
made by a voyager to Australia, and that voyager was an
Englishman—James Cook. Chosen to command the
Endeavour, 870 tons, sent to the South Sea to observe the
transit of Venus, Cook sailed from Plymouth (26th Aug.,
1768). The observations on the transit were made at
Tahiti in 1769. Cook’s instructions® were to proceed
southwards after the astronomical observations were con-
cluded. If he found no land before reaching the fortieth
south parallel he was to go westward and explore New
Zealand ; thence he was to return to England by such
route as he might think proper. These orders he obeyed,
reaching New Zealand on the 6th Oct., 1769 ; and survey-
ing New Zealand until the 81st March, 1770.

Bearing in mind that all that was known of Australia
was that Tasmania was supposed to be part of the main-
land, that only portions of the south and west coast were
known, and that the northern shores had merely been seen
near Arnhem Land, the Gulf of Carpentaria, and Cape
York, the reader will appreciate the magnitude of Cook’s
discoveries. Encountering rough weather, and carefully
sounding at night, Cook sighted the mainland of Australia
on the 19th April, 1770, in latitude 88° south, longitude
211° 7”, and called it Point Hicks, after the first lieutenant,
who first saw it. ¢ To the southward we could see no land,

8 ¢ Cook’s Voyages” (2nd), vol. i. Introduction.
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other places are named for special reasons assigned, and it
was morally certain that if Port Jackson had been named
after one of the ship’s company the fact would have been
noted.

There was, moreover, internal evidence in Cook’s narrative,
which, though not conclusive, pointed strongly to another
origin of the naming of Port Jackson. In ‘“Cook’s Journal”
we find that shortly before he left New Zealand, in 1770,
he wrote:—*“This bay I have named Admiralty Bay, the
N.W. point Cape Stephens, and the E. Point Jackson, after
the two secretaries.” Even if no other evidence were
available it would not have been a daring assumption to
suppose that Cook attached the name of the Admiralty
Secretary to Port Jackson, especially when it is seen that,
omitting Broken Bay and Cape Three Points (named after
their configuration), the very next name given by Cook on
the Australian coast, but without special reason assigned,
was that of the other Admiralty Secretary to Port Stephens.
Moreover, it has been ascertained that no sailor named
Jackson was rated in the books of the Endeavour.® The
error which carelessness created was fostered perhaps by
the fact that Sir George Jackson changed his name to
Duckett to meet the provisions of a will. The noble
harbour of Sydney still rejoices in the surname given by
Cook. The Duckett family endeavoured to keep alive the
connection of their ancestor with the navigator by inserib-
ing on a tombstone? the fact that ¢ Captain Cook, of whom
he was a zealous friend and early patron, named after him
Point Jackson in New Zeuland and Port Jackson in New
South Wales,” but carelessness and credulity almost
annulled their doings. Quandoquidem data sunt ipsis quoque
Jfata sepulcris.  Of Cook’s exploits there could be no doubt.
The names fixed by him still remain.

The chapter of his troubles when the Endeavour struck
near Cape Tribulation, must be read in his own journal.
The resolute constancy with which in that lonely spot he

¢ Note 1894.—This statement, made in 1883, is amply confirmed by the
publication in the ‘¢ Historical Records of New South Wales,” of the
names of the crew of the Endeavour, amongst whom the name Jackson
does not appear. The complete list is also published in ¢ Captain Cook’s

Journal” (1893), by Captain Wharton.
7 At Bishop Stortford, Herts.
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The yawl and long-boat towed ahead; sweeps were used
abaft. ‘“We were not above 80 or 100 yards from the
breakers. The same sea that washed the side of the ship
rose in a breaker prodigiously high the very next time it did
rise, so that between us and destruction was only a dismal
valley, the breadth of one wave, and even now no ground
could be felt with 120 fathom.

“The pinnace was by this time patched up, and hoisted
out, and sent to tow. Still, we had hardly any hopes of
saving the ship, and full as little our lives, as we were full
ten leagues from the nearest land, and the boats not
sufficient to carry the whole of us. Yet, in this truly
terrible situation, not one man ceased to do his utmost, and
that with as much calmness as if no danger had been near.
All the dangers we had escaped were little in comparison
with being thrown upon this reef, where the ship must be
dashed to pieces in a moment.”

A light air aided the efforts of the crew; a little offing
was gained, a small opening in the reef was seen a quarter

of a mile away; Cook strove to gain it. ‘“We were still in
the very jaws of destruction, and it was a doubt whether or
no we could reach this opening. . . . To our surprise,

we found the tide of ebb rushing out like a mill-stream.”
Using the ebb, Cook obtained an offing of a mile and a-half.
Lieut. Hicks went in the small boat to examine another
small opening, and reported favourably. ‘It was imme-
diately resolved to try to secure the ship in it. Narrow and
dangerous as it was, it seemed to be the only means of
saving her as well as ourselves. A light breeze soon after
sprang up at E.N.E., with which, the help of our boats and
a flood tide, we soon entered the opening, and were hurried
through in a short time by a rapid tide like a mill-race,
which kept us from driving against either side, though the
channel was not more than a quarter of a-mile broad—having
two boats ahead of us sounding. . . . The channel we
came in by I have named Providential Channel. . . . Itis
but a few days ago that I rejoiced at having got without the
reef, but that joy was nothing when compared to what I
now felt at being safe at an anchor within it.”

The name ‘‘ Providential Channel’” remains on charts to
this day; but it was not until 1898 that Captain Whaxton,
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that New Holland and New Guinea are two separate lands
or islands, which until this day hath been a doubtful point
with geographers,”” Cook proceeded to New Guinea, having
given a heritage to his counirymen beyond the power of
a Kaiser to bestow. Modestly chronicling his doings at
New Guinea, Savu, Batavia, and the Cape of Good Hope,
Cook concluded his narrative by saying that on the 12th
June, 1771, ““we passed Beachy Head; at noon ‘we were
abreast of Dover;’ on the 18th we anchored in the Downs;
and soon after I landed in order to repair to London.”

The formal act of taking possession of New South Wales
produced no immediate results. America was yet English.
The baleful stars of Grenville and North had infected the
atmosphere of the government, but there might yet have
been a lustration. In 1765 the accursed Stamp Act was
passed ; doomed to breed strife and hatred between England
and her children. But the genius of Chatham, the wisdom
of Camden, and the eloguence and vigour of Burke and
Barré were arrayed against Grenville and his fatuous
majority ; and sanguine men might still have hoped that
the triumph would be on the side of the wise; that America
would remain a friendly gathering-ground for Englishmen
seeking their fortunes in emigration ; that so great a crime
as the violent severance of her colonies would not be perpet-
rated by English statesmen in the name of England. The
Stamp Act was indeed repealed in 1766, but a declaratory
Bill was passed which neutralized the effect of the repeal.

Before Cook had returned from New South Wales, Lord
North was minister, and maintenance of the tea-duties led

injustice done to Cook by the jealous hydrographer. It is therefore more
incumbent upon the historian to point it out. How little the maps of the
sixteenth century could have aided an explorer Mr. Major himself shows.
The Dauphin map (1530) is extolled as laying down the east coast of New
Zealand. But it makes the land continuous from the longitude of New
Zealand to Cape York in Australia Moreover, it does not show New
Guinea. In one of the maps of the period made at ‘‘ Dieppe par Nicolas
Desliens, 1566,” and preserved at the Bibliotheque Nationale, Paris, the
same features occur, and between Java La Grande or Australia (which is
represented as extending far southward of the latitude of Cape Horn), and
the Cape of Good Hope, a large island is shown, occupying about seven
degrees of longitude and nearly five of latitude. On the principle of omne
ignotum pro magnifico it is appropriately styled ‘‘ Isle des geantz.” Perhaps
Swift had an eye upon this map in satirically choosing the same place for
his Lilliput.
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Had the French founded a colony it is not probable that
under their management it would have prospered; and if it
had, it would, in the ensuing wars, have fallen a prey to
the English. A careful study of published and unpublished
contemporary documents leaves no doubt as to the fact
that the English were always on the alert to keep the
French from their new South Land.

The disposal of convicts was, without doubt, one element
in guiding the government to the colonization of Australia.

Transportation to the States in America was rendered
impossible by the war in 1775. Precise statistics as to the
numbers transported thither between the years 1619 and
1784 cannot now be obtained ; but an official estimate made
in 1790 stated the ‘‘ mercantile returns” as £40,000 per
annum, ‘‘about 2000 convicts being sold for £20 each.”
An Act (4 Geo. IV, c. 2) explains this strange process.
The court, when sentencing prisoners, was empowered to
‘““ convey, transfer, and make over such offenders to the use
of any persons contracting for their transportation to them
and their assigns for the term of seven years.” Accordingly
the “contractors” sold the prisoners in the colonies to
settlers, who became the recognised ‘ owners or proprieters”
of their fellow-countrymen for a term of years. The Home
government thus strove to wash its hands of responsibility,
the contractors made more or less profit out of their
brethren, and the colonists obtained labourers more or less
valuable.

When the American Revolution ground these arrange-
ments to powder so far as the United States were concerned,
the English government sought relief from the accumulation
of convicts by sending some of them to Africa.

It appears from a paper submitted to the English govern-
ment in 1783 (when Fox and North were in power) that, in
1775 and 1776 746 convicts were sent to Africa; that
€884 died, 271 deserted no one knows where, and of the
remainder no account could be given.”’1

10 ¢ Historical Records of N.S.W.,” vol. i, part 2, p. 7. Paper drawn up
by Mr. J. M. Matra, who communicated also with members of the Pitt
ministry at later dates. Like many framers of plans Matra was inaccur-
ately speculative. His proposal was to deport American loyalists to

Australia, and he declared that ‘‘a sum not exceeding £3000 will be more
than adequate to the whole expense of Government.”
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needed the fostering hand of the governor in promoting
agriculture and the arts which sustain life, it must be con-
fessed that man was brought face to face with an experi-
ment of which there was no previous example, and the
difficulties of which were enormously augmented by remote-
ness from the mother country. His was not the task of
Cortes or Pizarro—to conquer and control a civilized com-
munity by force of arms. Nor had a colony been previously
founded in the manner now to be attempted.

To found a colony after the manner of the Greeks, was
for members of any state to migrate to a chosen site. They
carried with them their slaves, numerous enough to prevent
scarcity of labourers in the new land, and they were nqt far
removed from the parent state.

To establish a military colony by dispossessing or enslaving
the previous inhabitants, and by throwing over the new-
comers the awful @gis of Roman protection, was merely to
give to the latter with a high hand the accumulated pro-
ducts of previous generations of labourers and capitalists.

To neither of these methods was there anything
analogous in the experiment undertaken by the ministry of
Pitt. Labour was to be compulsory, but it was that of
criminals under sentence. There were no fruits of other
men’s labour to appropriate. To preserve peace and secure
order, a military force was to be maintained;? but it was
to be maintained under governors, to whom was delegated
the task of making the settlement a nucleus from which
other settlements should swarm, so that the new South
Continent might become the undisputed possession of the
British Crown, and the future home of millions of the
British people.

The problem before Pitt and his colleagues was a mixed
one. He had to secure the new land for his country. He
et woMd b st b aeierly wnable to sontrol the comicta, who would,
as buccaneers, become the terror of the seas, and a disgrace to England
and the world. In a philanthropic spirit ‘“the benevolent Howard,”
seeing the miseries of convicts in the gaols and hulks, deplored that
penitentiaries were not built at Islington, and that the designs of himself
and Dr. Fothergill had been defeated by those who *‘adopted the ex-

nsive, dangerous, and destructive scheme of transportation to Botany
Ey.”—Memoirs of John Howard the Philanthropist, p. 5633. Londan,

1818.
c?












ENGLAND AND HER COLONIES 23

tion is otherwise engaged, to commit his country to the old
course of folly; or until some colonial Cleon may, to effect
his own mean purposes, succeed in inducing the colonists
to sever themselves from their ancestral heritage.

Fervent aspirations are felt in the colonies as well as in
England for a happy continuance of union. It should be
easy to maintain what so many millions desire. ~But man
is more potent for evil than for good. Representative
assemblies tolerate any conduct of their leader until they
have, for their own purposes, determined to be rid of him;
and mischief is often done, of which few at the time
approve, and which not many have thought about at all.
‘We ought to be wiser than our forefathers by reason of
their experience, but it is to be questioned whether we are.
Nay, to the extent to which material science makes men
proud, some of them are so much less wise than their fore-
fathers, that they would plunge back into the moral chaos
which preceded Christianity. A people which builds its
hopes only on material progress may prosper for a time,
but the severest punishment which can be dealt to it is to
allow it to obtain its end. Without patriotism, without
honour, and without real friends, it will sink into a state
which will enable the strong man to take away the goods
to obtain which it devoted its energies. FEwvertere domos
totas, optantibus ipsis, Di faciles. Englishmen, at home or
abroad, who love their country, cannot but tremble for her
future, if they see patriotism discarded in favour of sordid
calculations of gain. If to be cosmopolitan be to have no
ties of natural affection, and if nationality is to be cast off
as a worn-out garment unfitted for the nineteenth century,
the creature which will be left will be but the dregs of an
Englishman, and the citizen of the world will be of a
lower order than one whose joys ‘imprint the patriot
passion on the heart.”

While the German race, our kindred of the past, have
yearned so intensely for a United Germany, and have
wreaked their yearning into deeds; while our immediate
kindred at Washington have freely cast upon the national
altar the wealth which their decriers taunted them for
worshipping; while other nations give signs of similar
fervour,—England has been openly counselled to throw off






















































PHILLIP ASKS FOR FREE SETTLERS. 41

that time arrived the settlements both there and at Sydney
were reduced almost to starvation. Grumblers in the
House of Commons denounced the whole scheme of coloni-
zation as absurd, and prophesied that the colony could
never be self-supporting, but would continually tax the
mother-country to feed it.

Phillip was wise enough to urge that free emigrants
should be encouraged to try their fortunes, bringing with
them the capital so sorely needed, with which they might
bring land into cultivation, and spread their stock over the
hills where pasture was annually wasted.

Before all the stores had been landed from his ships he
wrote : (9th July) “If fifty farmers were sent out with
their families they would do more in one year in rendering
this colony independent of the mother-country, as to pro-
visions, than a thousand convicts.” Meantime, on impor-
tations “alone I depend.” On the 10th July (1788) he
suggested that immigrant farmers should be

““supported by government for two or three years, and have the labour
of a certain number of convicts to assist them for that time . . . The
sending out settlers who will be interested in the labour of the convicts
and in the cultivation of the country appears to me to be absolutely
necessary. Lands granted to officers and settlers will, I presume, be on
condition of a certain proportion of the land so granted being cultivated or
cleared within a certain time, which time and quantity can only be deter-
mined by the nature of the ground and situation of the lands.”

Officers cultivating lands must ¢ likewise be allowed convicts,
who must be maintained at the expense of the Crown.”
Despatches from Whitehall (24th Aug., 1789)% which
authorized grants to non-commissioned officers and marines,
also instructed Phillip that he might give to other settlers
grants of land to ¢ such amount as you shall judge proper,”
and assign to each grantee the service of any number of
convicts he might ‘judge sufficient to answer their pur-
pose,”’ the settlers maintaining and feeding the convicts,
and paying annual quit-rent on the lands after five years’
occupation. Teachers of tillage would be sent. The Sec-
retary of State ‘ flattered”” himself that after the autumn

2 Additional Royal Instructions accompanied these Despatches. They
dealt with the subjects of grantsof land ; assignment of convicts to grantees;
reserves ; church reserves, &c. A table of fees (governor’s 1 secretaryss
surveyor’s ; auditor’s; registrar’s) was attached.






































































































































































































































































































LAW AT NORFOLK ISLAND. 139

and returned to the south in H.M.S. Gorgon. At the Cape
of Good Hope he took the risk of drawing bills on the
Treasury to pay for live stock and supplies of which Sydney
was in sore need. Having arrived in Sept. 1791, King,
after earnest conferences with Phillip, returned to Norfolk
Island on the 4th Nov.

Writing to Sir Evan Nepean on the 23rd Nov., he said
he ¢ found discord and strife in every person’s countenance,
and in every corner and hole of the island, which you may
easily conceive would render this an exact emblem of
the infernal regions.” ‘ General murmuring and dis-
content at Major Ross’s conduct assailed me from every
description of people.”

On former occasions he had earnestly impressed upon the
authorities the necessity to arrange for the due administra-
tion of justice on the island. He now reminded Nepean
of the ‘ great necessity there is for some regular and
authorized mode of distributing justice.” Sending prisoners
for trial before the Criminal Court in Sydney entailed the
removal (as witnesses) of some of the most useful people
on the island. A Criminal Court on the island was needed,
but capital sentences might be stayed until the Governor in
Sydney had signified his approval. Law-books, such as
the Judge-Advocate in Sydney was possessed of, were a
prime necessity. King had no desire for arbitrary
authority. On the contrary, in one of his earnest pleadings
for a duly constituted Court, he wrote to Nepean: ‘ As a
civil Governor, I cannot approve of the martial law.”

Ross, relieved from his post at Norfolk Island, returned
to Sydney and embarked 13th Dec. in H.M.8. Gorgon with
his detachment of marines, ‘ those excepted (Phillip wrote)
who have become settlers, or who remain for the service of
the colony until the remainder of the New South Wales
corps arrive.”’

In Feb. 1792 Grose arrived as Lt.-Governor and com-
mandant of the new corps. It bears an ill name and
frequently deserved censure. But the previous misconduct
of the officers of the marines led, in great measure, to that
of the new corps. Power corrupts all but the purest
minds, and its abuses are written not alone in the acts of
tyrants, but in those of mobs. The marines firsy, amd


























































































GROSE DECLINES TO PAY NORFOLK Ipo. CORN BILLS. 169

In Nov. 1798 10,152 bushels of maize, 1602 bushels of
wheat, and other products had been raised from about 260
acres. In April 1794 the second crop of maize at the
island had been so abundant that King offered to send
5000 bushels to Sydney. In August, in conformity with
the terms® on which Phillip had settled them on the land,
the settlers sold 11,000 bushels of maize to the govern-
ment, taking bills from King. But there was no famine
then in Sydney, where the maize crop had been good.
Grose affected to think it was not within his power to keep
the faith pledged by Phillip. He would not assume the
responsibility of approving the bills, though he wrote at a
later date to Secretary Dundas (Aug. 1794) that King had
been ¢ guided” by Phillip’s orders, and must ¢ certainly
appear to have broken faith with the settlers™ in case the
bills should remain unpaid. He sent a notice for publica-
tion in the island. The bills would be paid if the Secretary
of State should so order; if not, grain equal to that
received would be returned to the settlers. To Grose King
wrote (Nov. 1794): “I am in the most disagreeable situa-
tion that ever an officer was placed in. I have no other
consolation than self-approval of my rectitude, and the
consciousness of having acted to the best of my judgment
for the good of His Majesty’s service.” The settlers were
go indignant that King was obliged to imprison one man
for ‘“ seditious expressions.”

There were at the time other grounds for distrust between
Grose and King, but they did not deter the latter from
loyally obeying his superior. He wrote, however, to the
Secretary of State. He sent copies of all the orders he had
received from Phillip and Grose. He hoped ‘‘ the goodness
and humanity’” of Dundas would ‘“excuse any impropriety
he might fall into in representing the distress” arising
from “‘the corn bills not being ordered payment.” The
settlers were so dejected that in spite of King’s dissuasion
ten marines and two other settlers would not wait for news
from England, but ¢ sold, or rather gave away, their farms
and stock,” most of them enlisting in the New South Wales
Corps. Grose did nothing to remedy the shock which his

® Despatch. King to Secretary Dundas, 6th Nov. 1794.












-NEW SOUTH WALES CORPS AT NORFOLK 1SLAND. 173

A settler at the island cut short all need for trial of a
thief in one case in 1792. It was at a time of short
rations, when, to prevent the voracious swallowing of a
week’s allowance at a meal, King ordered the divided ration
to be issued twice in the week. A conviet took to the
woods and obtained food by plundering gardens at night.
Leonard Dyer shot him in the act. King sent the deposi-
tions to Phillip. Phillip, on the eve of departure for Eng-
land, promised to represent to the English ministers the
evils arising from the want of a Court of Criminal Jus-
tice at the island, and the act of Leonard Dyer was never
challenged.

When Grose upbraided King for his manner of restoring
the Maoris to New Zealand, he at the same time (Feb.
1794) complained of the manner in which King had main-
tained discipline in the detachment of the New South
Wales Corps stationed at Norfolk Island. The audacity
which he had been unable to cope with in Sydney he was
unwilling to see controlled by King. A private in the
corps, on the complaint of one Dring, a freed settler, had
been forbidden by Lieut. Abbott to frequent the settler’s
house. The settler’s wife was enticed abroad, and Dring
found her with her tempter, whom he at once struck.
The soldier complained. Dring was fined twenty shillings
for an assault. Another soldier for a similar offence was
pulled by the nose by a marine settler. The magistrates
fined the settler ten shillings. The soldiery were indignant
at the leniency of the sentences. King incurred odium by
giving Dring time to pay the fine whenever his corn might
be garnered, another settler giving security in the mean-
time. In reporting the case to Grose, King had said that
Dring, in striking the soldier, had been ‘‘actuated by the
same principle that would have actuated any man;”’ but
the soldiers at Norfolk Island, expecting support from
Grose, became insolent. Four of them attacked on his
own farm the settler who had become security for Dring.
The settler complained to King, who referred him to the
commanding officer, by whose order the principal rioter
was confined in the guard-house. Two other soldiers
thereupon brutually assaulted Dring. They also in like
manner were complained of and confined. The ofienders









176 GROSE ABROGATES CIVIL LAW AT NORFOLK Ib.

of the guard on duty, and Lieut. Beckwith, with some
gettlers, took the arms out of the barracks. The slight
resistance offered gave way at the word of Abbott.

King explained in a proclamation the necessity of what
had been done. To all the non-commissioned officers, and
to soldiers in whom Abbott had confidence, their arms were
returned instantly. Of the twenty active mutineers, some
were secured at once, and the rest were taken into custody
on returning at one o’clock with feathers from Phillip
Island. Ten were selected by Abbott as the most dangerous,
and were confined in a granary. The rest were released,
and their arms were restored. King caused Abbott to
assemble the soldiers at four o’clock, and told them that he
by no means wished to cast a slur upon the detachment
because of the errors of a few. They confessed they had
been misled. The whole of the detachment (except the ten
prisoners) ‘“then took the oath of fidelity, which was ad-
ministered to them by the clergyman,” and peace prevailed.
All the sentries were posted as usual within a few minutes
of the seizure of the arms. King deemed it advisable to
embody forty-four of the marine and sailor settlers as a
militia.

Order had been re-established when the Francis schooner
appeared in sight. By her King told Grose what had
happened, and sent the ten mutineers, with as large a guard
ag the small craft (forty tons) could hold. By this time the
drunkenness permitted if not encouraged by Grose, and the
obsequious manner in which he had pandered to the unruly
desires of his corps, had made any restraint odious to
them. Those who were indulged by their own commander,
and against whom he shrank from enforcing the law, could
not tolerate control by an officer of the sea-service. Grose
himself was enraged. He poured out his wrath on the 25th
Feb.

“I am more astonished and mortified at your letter than I can well
describe. What appears to be the most extraordinary is the great con-
fidence with which you seem to set about such ill-judged and uvnwarrant-
able proceedings. Your excursion to Knuckle Point—your sending away
the New Zealanders without any directions whatever, and without either
knowing or inquiring what were my intentions respecting them—are
attacks on my situation I little expected, and which would justify
measures I shall not pursue. Your taking upon yourself to appoint
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Captain Nepean,* who by accident had called at Norfolk, to & command
you had left, without permission, might have groduced the most unplea-
sant effects. Lt. Abbott would have been perfectly justified in resisting
your appointment of Ca})ta.in Nepean. . . . Ready as I might be to
put up with any want of attention to myself, I really do not see how this
can be done, for I must, for my own sake, report the circumstances. I
have not a doubt but the Secretary of State and the Commissioners of the
Navy Board will consider your delaying the Britannia for this trifling pur-
deserving their highest disapprobation.
¢ The mutiny you state to have happened I have directed to be investi-
ted by a Court of Inquiry. . . . The necessity for disarming the
etachment I cannot discover, although we all too plainly perceive that
if the soldiers have been refractory, the insults they have received from
the convicts were sufficient to provoke the most obedient to outrage. I
have directed Lieut. Townson to take command of the detachment at Nor-
folk, and he will communicate to you whatever orders I have given him
ting the soldiers. The militia you have ordered to assemble are
immediately to be disembodied, and their arms are to be sent in the
schooner. . . . Lieut. Townson is directed to apply to you for the
persons of T. R. Crowder (the constable who was manager at the theatre)
and W. Doran, who are to be kept in irons in the guard-house until the
departure of the schooner, when they are to be sent prisoners to Sydney.

¢¢ It appearing by a remark of yours that Cooper, who struck Bannister,
was forgiven his punishment &t the intercession of the detachment, and

. . . theofficers and soldiers who came from Norfolk Island declaring
that they were, . . . on the contrary, dissappointed on finding him
escape, 1 have to request you will trouble yourself to give me some further
explanation.”

Lieut. Townson, who was to assume control over the
Lt.-Governor, was empowered to select 20 acres of land for
himself, and a larger quantity for his brother officers.

Grose’s letter has been quoted at some length, because
without seeing his own words it would be difficult to believe
that an officer in his position could have been so unjust to
his junior in rank, and so untrue to the service of the
Crown. On the voyage to New Zealand he had previously
had ample time to comment, and it might be dismissed from
consideration were it not that the English government saw
in it the only flaw in King’s comportment.

It would seem that a wiser counsellor than Grose detected
in this act a weakness which had éscaped Grose’s observa-

2 Captain Nepean, of the New South Wales corps, was a passenger in
the Britannia, from Sydney, via Norfolk Island, to Bengal, on his way to
England. When King took the Britannia to restore the Maori chiefs to
their people there were only three subaltern officers at Norfolk Island.
Captain Nepean, who was on full pay, consented to act during King’s
absence.—Despatch, 8th Nov. 1793. King to Secretary Dundas.
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KING’S REFLECTIONS. 217

checked by the extortions of their superiors, in a few years have been
comfortable. But I am sorry to say that with its first founder order and
regularity left these shores. Spirits were introduced. Robberies and
murders followed. The settlers, whom Governor Phillip conceived his
attention had so placed that independence and comfort would have been
familiar with them, were, for the lure of an hour’s intoxication, deprived
of their farms, stock, and future hopes; and many—left comfortably—
were soon compelled to till for a dram-seller’s interest the ground that
was 80 latel‘{' their own. Could it be expected that from such classes
anyone would support me in promoting plans of industry, when the success
of them must prove the infamy of their own conduct ? I could therefore see
that my task would be laborious and discouraging.

‘“ Confidential persons to assist me I brought none, as neither my
circumstances or means allowed it. Certain I therefore am that, as a
stop to many irregularities is necessary and unavoidable, I may count on
having for decided enemies many of those whom I ought to look to for
supgort. The only support I can assure myself of is the rectitude of my
conduct, which has been ever my safeguard ; and as I am determined not
to enter into the smallest private farm, acquirement of stock, or any other
private pursuit whatever, nothing will divert me from the objects I wish
to obtain, in which the general prosperity of the colony and its inhabitants
will be my ultimate pursuit. In this I hope to succeed, although every
disagreeable reform is left to me to imagine and execute.”












































































































SIR C. MORGAN ON SENTENCES OF COURTS-MARTIAL. 253

£100, and the Governor offered a like sum, for conviction
of the writer.

On the 9th May, 1803, King told Lord Hobart that he
was ‘‘ perfectly satisfied with the daily, weekly, monthly,
and yearly testimonies of gratitude received from every
description of colonists.” With regard to the officers of the
New South Wales Corps who were opposed to him, he did
not choose * to seek that personal reparation from those
who have used every means to provoke it, and which nothing
but the high sense I have of the important trust committed
to me has prevented.”” He humbly solicited that a civil,
military, and naval commission might inquire into the
whole of his conduct. His public and private acts he was
ready to submit. ‘‘But in case any consideration should
render this request inadmissible, I humbly implore your
Lordship’s procuring me His Majesty’s leave of absence to
enable me to submit my conduct to your Lordship’s con-
sideration.”

Had such a request reached Mr. Dundas, he would either
have supported the Governor boldly, or granted his request,
or superseded him. Lord Hobart took no such intelligible
course. Even ridiculous decisions of the courts-martial
were left undisturbed by the Judge-Advocate-General, Sir
Charles Morgan, though their absurdity was thus pointed
out by himself: “In this case (Ensign Bayley accused of
striking a convict), by some unaccountable error, the court-
martial, after declaring, perhaps properly, that the charge
was not within their cognizance, immediately, and, if I may
80 express it, in the same breath, therefore most honourably
acquit him.”

Nevertheless, the acquittals were conclusive. His
Majesty must not, however, be supposed to concur with
the courts-martial, nor even with the Governor ; * but, for
the sake of harmony, His Majesty chooses rather to pass
over any seeming irregularity in the proceedings, and to
recommend to all parties concerned that they will consign
to oblivion, if it be possible, all that has passed, and His
Majesty trusts that you will yourself herein set a laudable
example.”

Sir C. Morgan had been asked to decide whether an
emancipated convict was by a pardon so far purged and


















































































































































































































COLLINS ON SLAUGHTER OF TASMANIAN NATIVES. 323

In 1798 Flinders and Bass saw them and were friendly
with them. A paragraph in the Sydney Gazette (March
1804) narrated that at that date the natives at the Derwent
were ‘“ very friendly to small parties they meet accidentally,
though they cannot be prevailed on to visit the encamp-
ment.”

At Risdon Cove, May 1804, peace was rudely broken.
Bowen was absent for a few days at the Huon river. A
large number of natives, roughly estimated at from three to
five hundred, were seen near the camp. Their demeanour,
judged with knowledge of their habits, was not hostile. In
after days a man who was present deposed that they did
not threaten or molest any one. They were kangaroo
hunting. But the officer in charge, Lieut. Moore, was
foolishly alarmed. Soldiers and convicts were mustered.
Fire-arms were discharged without intimidating the startled
crowd. Fresh volleys brought many to the ground and they
fled, leaving it was said no less than fifty slain.®® They
were supposed to belong to the tribes at Oyster Bay.

Collins transmitted Lieut. Moore’s report to Governor
King. It only acknowledged that three natives ‘‘were
killed on the spot.” Collins added: ¢Not having been
present myself, I must take it for granted that the measures
which were pursued were unavoidable; but I have reason
to fear that, from the vindictive spirit of these people, I may
hereafter feel the unfortunate effects of them.” In the
pursuit a child about three years old had been captured.
Collins had directed that it should ‘ be returned to any
parties that might be seen in the neighbourhood.” An
officer wished to retain the boy and take him to England.
Collins forbade the abduction on the ground that King
George, having seen Bennilong, wanted no more Australian
blacks in England. The apprehensions which prevented
Collins from settling at the Yarra river weighed upon him
at Hobart Town. He wrote : ““If the natives never saw the
child again, they might imagine we had destroyed it. We
have every reason to believe them to be cannibals, and they
may entertain the same opinion of us.” He would.do all
he could to bring about friendly feelings.

% West, ¢ Histori of Tasmania,” vol. ii., p. 6. 1852, Mr. West says:
¢ The accounts of this affair differ greatly.’’
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inhabitants may not lose their claims on each other, and
for their future accommodation, blank printed forms’ were
supplied by the government. An Order in 1802 rendered it
compulsory to register every assignment of property, un-
registered assignments being made illegal. An Ordinance
of 1801 prescribed that bakers should use only one quality
of flour, i.e., of meal from which 24 lbs. of bran had been
taken from 100 lbs. Offending bakers were to be fined £10,
and their ovens were to be pulled down. The weight of the
loaf was fixed, and (15th May 1801) a General Order notified
that for selling a loaf 6 ozs. short in weight a baker’s oven
had been pulled down and he had been fined. ¢ This notice
is inserted to convince every description of persons that the
Governor is determined on having his orders enforced.”
Butchers also were licensed. By a Proclamation (16th
March 1802), King announced that he and the magistrates
would license two butchers in Sydney and one in Parra-
matta. Unlicensed persons would be fined £5 for each
offence. No cow, ewe, or breeding sow was to be killed.
Weekly returns of the male stock slaughtered were to be
given to the Governor. Licensees were to give no more
than 18d. per 1b. for mutton, and 6d. per lb. for swine’s
flesh, and to ‘“‘demand no more than 15d. per lb. for
mutton and 8d. per lb. for swine’s flesh.” In Oct. 1804,
the butchers having ‘‘ combined with a few individuals,”
further Orders extended the number of licensed butchers
to six in Sydney, two at Parramatta, and one at Hawkes-
bury. The price of beef was fixed (from the average of
tenders) at 1s. 9d. per lb., of mutton at 1s., and of pork at
g}d.d Each licensee was to pay £2 sterling to the Orphan
“und.

A public brewery was established at Parramatta in 18083.
King wrote (Aug. 1808) :—*‘‘ Much barley has been saved
this year. I hope a final blow will be given to the desire of
obtaining, as well as the importation of, spirits, the yearly
difference of which your Lordship will observe by the
enclosed return.” It was difficult to keep watch over con-
viet servants and overseers, and after a time the brewery
was let at a rate which returned interest on its cost. Flax
and woollen factories were established, and prices for their
products were fixed. Salt was made in pans, both in












COMMONS. THE PLOUGH. 361

He was “warned of the necessity”*® by inconvenience
experienced by the Hawkesbury settlers, ‘who, having
others placed immediately behind them, had no means of
having their allotments enlarged for their increasing and
acquired stock.” The common or waste land of the ancient
Aryans was therefore established in the forests of Australia.
“To remedy that evil your Lordship will observe by the
chart that I have granted a tract of land to the settlers of
Nelson district as a common ground for grazing their cattle
and sheep, which shall be as generally extended as possible
to other districts.” Thus were the problems (the tracing
of which in times past exercises antiquarian research) dealt
with on the spur of occasion in a new field. A year after-
warrs King wrote that every industrious settler was
possessed of some kind of live stock, to feed which

‘‘requires upa.stura.ge. To give all two or three hundred acres would soon
alienate all the disposable land adjacent to the settlers, and to give par-
ticular people three or four hundred acres in places of their own selection
would soon reduce the small farmer to sell his farm and stock (because he
cannot feed them) to the person who can command money or its worth.”

The Governor did not affect to have discovered a prin-
ciple. In a Gazette notice he declared that in order to
secure pasturage for the use of settlers the common lands
‘“were to be held and used by the inhabitants of the
respective districts as common lands are held and used in
that part of Great Britain called England.”

Incessant efforts were made to induce the farmers to use
the plough, but it was by slow degrees that the hoe gave
way. In 1806 King wrote: ‘ The plough is now used by
many, and from its evident advantage will in time be
preferred to the hoe.” On ground where wheat was
blighted he said: *It is to be lamented that no example or
advice can turn the settlers . . . from throwing away
their labour and time to procure a wheaten cake, to raise
a certain and plentiful crop of maize.”

The extent of cultivation carried on by the Government
was diminished by order of Lord Hobart, as soon as the
industry of the settlers augmented after repression of the
traffic in spirits. Lord Hobart’s order was obeyed, but
King pointed out that the ‘ distant observer could not be

*King to Lord Hobart, 7th Ang. 1803,
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The population® of New South Wales and its dependencies
was thus distributed when King left :—

Men. ‘Women. | Children. | Total.

New South Wales ... .. 4224 1412 1883 7519
Norfolk Island ...| 3% 183 437 1014
Hobart .| 34 7 69 486
Port Dalrymple .| 210 33 200 443

5172 1701 2589 9462

Among the personal occurrences during King’s govern-
ment the mysterious fate of Bass the explorer deserves
mention. That he considered himself slighted by the
English Government is shown in several letters. He
wrote to King (81st Jan. 1802) from Matavai Bay (Tahiti),
that though he had little to communicate, he ‘would not
be thought to fail in that esteem which I have ever held
and professed for you out of your official capacity.” He
had touched at Dusky Bay (New Zealand). He commended
the civility of the missionaries at Matavai:

¢¢ This civility is all we want, as it appears to be indeed all they have to
bestow, for I should not conceive that men in their situation either would
wish, or can if they wished it, have much authority amongst the islanders
or over us. We neither conceive them to be able to protect an establish-
ment if it was threatened by the natives, nor to chastise us should either
Bishop [Bass’s partner] or myself be for a moment inclined to relinquish
the path of right and just conduct which has for years past been our guide.
I would tell you my ideas of the state of hogs in this island, but perhaps you
would suspect something of the hocus-pocusin it, as also of the Attabooroo
war, but that more will be known of it before this letter leaves Otaheite.
Please to present my most respectful compliments to Mrs. King, and
believe me to.be your faithful friend and humble servant,

¢“GEORGE Bass.”

Bass carried a cargo of pork and salt safely to Sydney
from Tahiti, and received £2851 12s. 8d. for it. In Dec.
1802 he wrote from his brig, Venus, Sydney Cove. He
proposed ‘‘the extension of the rising commerce of this
territory,” and doubted not to receive the Governor’s
‘‘encouragement.” ‘It is said, but your Excellency is the
best judge of its truth, that an island abounding with salt
has been discovered by Captain Flinders upon the S.W.

™ Returns vary considerably as to the census of the colony, and some
which have been printed are without doubt inaccurate. In this and other
cases, the account which seemed most authentic has been adopred.
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supplied annually to the public stores. Government aiding
me in the project, I will make the experiment.”” The aid
asked for was ‘“exclusive privilege or lease of the south
part of New Zealand, or that south of Dusky Bay, drawing
the line in the same parallel of latitude across to the east
side of the island, . . . . together with ten leagues of
sea around their coasts.’”” The lease was to be for seven
years, renewable to twenty-one if successful during the
seven. The first seven years being probationary, he could
not undertake to supply any specific quantity, and therefore
did not ask the government to bind itself to receive any
fixed quantity.

For fish delivered he would be content with a price less
by one penny a pound than the cost of a meat ration. If
your Excellency thinks the above proposal worthy your
notice, I request at once to have the privilege that I may
begin to set matters in motion. If I can draw up food
from the sea in places which are lying useless to the world,
I surely am entitled to make an exclusive property of the
fruits of my ingenuity as much as the man who obtains
letters patent for a corkscrew or a cake of blacking.” ¥

King seconded Bass's project. It was to be at Bass’s
rigsk; the government was not bound to buy. Bass’s last
voyage had been most lucrative to the government in
obtaining pork. He presumed that every encouragement
should be given, and that the project would

‘‘be attended with much advantage, but how far the lands described by
him can or ought with propriety to be leased to Mr. Bass for so laudable
an undertaking I must submit to your Lordship’s wisdom, as the permis-
sion I shall give him to that effect will be conditional until I have the
honour to receive your Lordship’s instructions on this point.”

The fishing scheme was not to be proved until the return
of Bass from the cruise to Batavia and elsewhere. Mean-
while he projected a new scheme. King wrote:

¢ Mr. Bass'’s enterprising speculation has led him to attempt getting a
breed of guanacos from the coast of Peru, for which purpose he solicited a
certificate from me which I took upon myself to grant, a copy of which 1
have the honour to enclose. . . . do not perceive any political
inconvenience that can attend the open and unequivocal manner he goes
in, and perhaps it may ultimately tend to some public advantage.”

7 MS. autograph of Bass.
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his civilities King directed the commandant at Norfolk
Island to send him some breeding stock. Tip-a-he,
anxious to see the author of the gifts, sailed to Sydney in
H.M.8. Buffalo, which called at New Zealand. Maurice
Margarot was on board as a prisoner at Hobart Town,
while Tip-a-he was received as a guest.

Colonel Collins sent presents to Tip-a-he. King wrote to
Lord Camden (15th March 1806) :

¢“ As he had always been spoken of with the greatest gratitude by the
commanders of the gouth Sea whalers frequenting the Bay of Islands, who
have received much kindness from him and his people, I caused every
attention to be paid to him; and that he might receive no unpleasant
impressions he ate at my table, and was with his four sons comfortably
locfged ; nor have I a doubt that the attention shown him by the inhabi-
tants in general, and the abundant presents he took from hence, will pro-
cure the greatest advantages to our South Sea whalers. This worthy and
respectable chief (for so we found him in every sense of the word after
residing among us three months) informed me that he had long intended
this visit, being encouraged by the report of the two New %ealanders
(from) Norfolk Island.”

He was inquiring and communicative. He wished to
know how the nationality of vessels touching at New
Zealand was to be ascertained, and
¢ complained that a New Zealander had been flogged by the master of
whaler, and hoped that I would give orders that no such act would be
committed in future, and very liberally observed that he supposed the
master must be a bad character in his own country to commit such
violence on a stranger whose countrymen were relieving his wants. I
assured him that I would give strict directions that nothing of that kind
should happen again, but if unfortunately it should recur, every pains
should be taken to bring the offender to justice.”

King gave Tip-a-he a silver medal.’® Some colonists
wished to introduce New Zealanders as shepherds in New
South Wales. Tip-a-he agreed with the idea, but

““insisted on sending the middling order of Eeople, who would be more
expert at labour and tractable than the Emoki, or lower class, who were

19 The inscriptions were : ¢ Presented by Governor King to Tip-a-he, a
chief of New Zealand, during his visit to Port Jackson in Jan. 1806 ;” and
on the obverse: ‘‘In the reign of George IIIL., by the grace of God, King
of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland.” These attentions
to Tip-a-he perhaps influenced him in his efforts to save the lives of
Englishmen when the Boyd was subsequently attacked in New Zealand
because on board of her a New Zealand chiefy had been flogged. A few
survivors were saved. The story belongs to New Zealand history. Tip-
a-he and his village were destroyed by crews of whaling vessels.
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matta be respectively named Saint Phillip and Saint
John.” Eighteen years afterwards, Mr. Sorell, then Lt.-
Governor of Van Diemen’s Land, followed this example,
and directed that ¢ the new church of Hobart Town shall
be called ‘Saint David’s’ Church out of respect for the
memory of the late Colonel David Collins, of the Royal
Marines, under whose direction the settlement was founded
in 1804.”

Amongst glimpses of the condition of the people may be
noticed an order in June 1804, stating that the ‘ Royal
Standard having been hoisted for the first time in this
territory on this the anniversary of His Majesty’s birth”
(amidst salutes and volleys at 9 a.m., and with further
firings and salutes at noon, the Governor being ready to
receive the compliments of the officers—civil, military, and
naval—at half-past one o’clock), free pardons were granted
to an officer under sentence of court-martial, to twenty
soldiers of the New South Wales Corps, who had previously
received conditional emancipations, and to twelve other
conditionally emancipated persons, while to sixty-seven
prisoners conditional emancipation was given. The different
gaol-gangs were liberated, and ‘‘the usual allowance of
half-a-pint of spirits’’ was given to each non-commissioned
officer and private.

Tradition, neglectful of more important events during
King’s rule, preserved a few characteristics of his de-
meanour. We are told that when a man who had been a
marine applied for something which the Governor did not
think fit to grant, he said, ‘“Can you go through your
exercise still ?”’ and being answered intheaffirmative, gave the
man marching orders while he himself re-entered his house.
One occagion a man applied to him for work, and he called
the man into another room and showed him a mirror.
“Look there, and you will see the man that ought to give
you something to do.” These and other anecdotes of like
import have, in the absence of a true record of occurrences
between the departure of Phillip and the appointment of
Bligh, been allowed to stand as almost the only redeeming
features in the character of the man whose doings are here
chronicled, and whose despatches have been largely quoted
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his Sovereign the sanction of crimes which that servant
employed his life in correcting.

To obtain no credit for good work done is a common lot.
To bear blame for creating evils which a man has found
rampant and has vigorously repressed is a rarer misfortune.
More than a quarter of a century elapsed after King’s death
before Dr. Lang compounded his grotesque chapter upon
the government of New South Wales during the eventful
six years of King’s government. The motive for Lang's
mis-statements, so early committed and persistently
repeated, it might be difficult to assign. Major Goulburn
was the ever-recurring butt of his ridicule because he placed
obstacles in Lang's way, when by misrepresentation of
amounts of private subscriptions it was attempted to extort
undue grants from the Treasury. The wife of Mr. Commis-
sary Wemyss, in whose house Lang was received as &
guest, did not escape vituperation when her husband failed
to support Lang’s plans with satisfactory earnestness. Bub
these persons were yet alive, and might be supposed to feel
the lash of their offended critic; whereas Governor King
had long passed to a realm where such criticism, if it have
effect, can only injure its pronouncer. In King’s case it
would be difficult to assign a motive unless it be that
Admiral P. P. King, the son of the old Governor, in after
years displeased Dr. Lang by failing to support him in
some scheme, and it was desirable to mete out a wider
vengeance than that of the Decalogue, and to visit the sins
of the children upon their forefathers.!

1ot If it should be thought that Lang’s statements are unduly censured
in the text, the following paragraph will show how necessary it is to

rove their worthlessness. From the time of Phillip to that of Governor
léipps there was no such effort made as that by Gipps to enforce justice to
the aboriginal race. Nevertheless, when Sir G. Gipps failed, in Dr.
Lang’s opinion, to procure evidence of the truth of a rumour which
reached him, Dr. Lang denounced Sir G. Gipps as a Participator in crime
and as having this ‘‘black blood upon his hands;’ and now that Her
Majesty has relieved him ‘“of the task of misgoverning the most important
of the Australian colonies, he may wipe it off if he can.”—*‘Cooksland,”
by J. D. Lang. London: 1847. Gipps died before the invitation was
published. Lang added in a note: “g?r G. Gipps was alive when this
was written. He has since gone to his account. I see no reason, however,
why I should expunge a syllable of what I had written in the case.” But
the charge against Gipps was anjust; and, even if it had been true, how

could he return from the dead to essay the vain task of Dr. Lang’s sleep-
walking countrywoman, Lady Macbeth?
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government of a penal settlement was under the eye of
a commander at Sydney, and at Norfolk Island. Baut
as settlement extended to the Hawkesbury, difficulties were
multiplied. Phillip continued his exertions till health gave
way. Grose abandoned, Paterson neglected, his duties, and
Hunter was incapable. King undertook the increasing
duties with energy which knew no check but physical pros-
tration. When he wanted money for his Orphan School he
imposed taxation by his sole authority with an audacity
which excited in after times the censure of William Charles
Wentworth.!® He persuaded successive Secretaries of
State to sanction his act. When the military obstructed
him he showed that he was independent of them in a
matter in which they confidently hoped to reduce him te
submission. He brought them to trial resolutely, even
though there was no hope of convicting an offender
before a court composed of his comrades. He
entreated the Secretary of State to appoint a jurist
to fill the office of Judge Advocate or of Chief Justice,6
so that the administration of the law might be duly
conducted. He sent folios of reports to bring the true
state of affairs to the knowledge of the Secretary of State,
and to persuade him to send out a small artillery force so
that, for defence purposes, the arrogant corps might be in
part dispensed with. He was irascible, and was accused of
being violent. Yet, when in 1803 the officers of the
Criminal Court put the officiating Judge-Advocate under
arrest, he recognised the gravity of the situation, summoned
a council of advice, comprising Captain Kent of H.M.S.
Bugffalo, Colonel Paterson, Mr. Marsden, and others, and at
their suggestion appointed a substitute for the arrested
Judge-Advocate, though his own desire had been to suspend
the proceedings of the Court until His Majesty’s pleasure

1% Wentworth was born at Norfolk Island when King governed there in
1793. He admitted that King devoted the fruits of his illegal taxation to
objects of great importance and utility, though he hinted that Bligh was
not so scrupulous. But the taxation, under the ‘¢ ipse dizit of a governor,”
was an ‘ unprecedented deviation from all constitutional authority.”’—
“ Description of the Colony of New South Wales.” London : 1819. Went-
worth was twenty-six years old when the first edition of his work was
published.

% Vide pp. 233, 250, 258, 259.
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Phillip'® Parker King. The smallest was less than 800
acres. Succeeding Governors gave more land to the family.
Bligh himself carried on board the Bugffalo (in the harbour,
as King was sailing to England) an additional grant of 790
acres near those apportioned by King to his children, and
persuaded Mrs. King to accept it. Macquarie added a
grant of less extent, and long afterwards Governor Darling,
in recognition of marine surveys conducted by Phillip
Parker King on the north-west coast, granted him 1500
acres more. Muniments of title are so carefully preserved
that when, after the lapse of a quarter of a century, a
newspaper writer ventured to affirm that King granted to
himself 10,000 acres of land, Admiral King was able
promptly to disprove the allegation.!®

The Governor’s predecessors had received pensions in
England, and his services would probably have been recog-
nized in like manner. He, like Phillip, had suffered in
health, but, unlike Phillip, he was soon to succumb to
disease. He died in Sept. 1808. When his death was
made known in Sydney, Colonel Paterson (the Acting-
Governor) and the officers of the New South Wales Corps
¢ attended Divine service in mourning, as a tribute of
respect for the memory of the much-lamented Governor—
P. G. King.”" His memory is kept green among many
scores of his descendants born in the colony. His acts
have been for the first time placed before the public in
these volumes.

His widow presented a memorial to the Secretary of
State, which stated that she was without relations to assist
her in caring for her children. She asked for relief from
the government. She stated that he was of an ancient and
respectable ¢ family declined in circumstances;” that the
small sum at her command had been diminished by
expenses during his illness; and that though he was

' The affection of the Governor for bis patron Governor Phillip was
shown by the name he gave to his son. Thouﬁh his own Christian name
was Philip, he adopted the spelling of Arthur Phillip’s name in christening
his son.

% The details need not be given. The son’s triumphant refutation is
to be found in the press, and is preserved by the family. Its date was
24th July 1833.

10 Sydney Gazette, 7th May 1809,
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390 INSTRUCTIONS TO BLIGH.

The mutineers led by Christian had left some of the crew
at Tahiti before taking up their own abode at Pitcairn
Island, and of those left at Tahiti several were taken to
England, and three were tried and executed. Bligh was
again sent to Tahiti, and he safely transported the coveted
bread-fruit to its new home in the West. He was chosen
to succeed King as Governor. He had friends who must
have credited him with some good qualities, but he wanted
qualifications for governing others, and his language be-
trayed that he was unable to govern himself.

Dr. Lang, whether carelessly ignorant, or misrepresent-
ing the instructions to King, which commanded him to
remedy the evils caused by traffic in spirits, has stated that
the ¢“ breaking up of the monstrous system” was specially
enjoined upon Bligh. The fact was that King had so
effectually checked the traffic by officers, civil and military,
that the clause in King’s instructions which censured their
entering into the “‘ most unwarrantable traffic” was with-
drawn from those issued to Bligh. It was no longer
needed. The injunction to restrain the general traffic, and
to put in force similar measures to those adopted by King,
was renewed. Bligh published a General Order on the
subject (Feb. 1807). Lord Castlereagh (81st Dec. 1807)
approved of Bligh’s proceedings.

Some writers have accepted, without investigation, the
idea that Bligh’s deposition was due to his determination
to interfere with the profits made by the officers of the

rt in the mutiny left the vessel. Thence Christian sailed to Pitcairn
sland, where after twenty years the descendants of the mutineers were
found. He destro‘yed the Bounty after arriving there. The strange colony
which Christian founded was removed to Tahiti in 1830, where crimes
unknown in Pitcairn Island distracted them,and they returned to their old
home. In 1856 they were removed to Norfolk Island as an act of kindness,
but the love of their native land was stronger than any inducement to
cultivate Norfolk Island and forin a British community. Listless and ill-
adapted for the struggle of European life, some of them went back to their
island of tropical fruits and indolence. The original mutineers had
quarrelled with Tahitians whom they took to the island ; and Christian
and others were killed. Only two, Young and Adams, were left with
twelve Tahitian women and some children after the other men of both
races had been killed. When Young also died Adams was left to guide the
natives and the children of the mutineers. He taught them from a
Prayer Book, and when found ufter lapse of years the little flock were
decorous and earnest in their religious services.
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proceeding should be carried on during his absence; and that, with
afterwards selecting the officers for ticular duties, caused the Major to
wait on him to ascertain the cause of such order, and he felt, like all great
men in authority, indignant. Johnston informed him that he would write
to the Commander-in-Chief respecting his interference with the private

detail of the regiment. . . . It, however, gives me much pleasure to
hear every description of persons heaping blessings on the head of my
friend the late Governor . . . praying for his return . . . nay,

even those who were most censorious are now his greatest advocates.”

Such was the testimony of the bluff Dr. Harris long
before Macarthur encountered Bligh’s wrath. It will be
remembered that on one occasion, when Dr. Harris was
upbraided for supporting King’s measures, he was tried by
a court-martial, one object of which was to ascertain
whether Harris or Adjutant Minchin told the truth, at a
time when some officers of the corps were intriguing
against King. In 1807 they were of one mind. By a
singular coincidence, amongst manuscripts yet preserved
is a letter written by the same Minchin to King on the
20th Oct. 1807. He also styled him ‘Dear Governor,”
and said: “I can only say as an individual I was happy
under your government. I am now unhappy, and if a
military officer might be allowed to use the words tyranny
and oppression, I would add that until now I never ex-
perienced their weight.”

A word may be said about the cabal who formed Bligh’s
council of advice. The perjured Crossley, who had become
his friend, is already known. Mr. Palmer was the Com-
missary, at whose house Crossley in 1805 prepared the
petition intended to coerce King to permit the landing of a
large quantity of spirits from the ship Eagle, on behalf of
Campbell, for whom Palmer was acting as agent. Mr.
Campbell, who had returned to Sydney, was the gentleman
whom King commended for everything ‘except forcing
spirits on the colony.” Another of the ¢ friends and direc-
tors’”’ enumerated by Harris was a freedman.

Gore, the Provost-Marshal, had arrived in the colony
with Governor Bligh, and had so conducted himself on the
voyage that Bligh warned several persons in Sydney against
assoclation with him. Nevertheless, he himself associated
with him.? When Gore was tried for stealing from a

3 Evidence at court-martial on Colonel Johnston, 18\\.
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3 Evidence at court-martial on Colonel Johnston, 1®\\.
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ing in spirits by officers, they attributed his disasters to
his endeavour to perform a duty which had been so com-
pletely performed by his predecessor, that an injunetion
with regard to it was deemed unnecessary in the instruc-
tions to Bligh. He did, however, announce his intention
to obey the Secretary of State in restraining the importa-
tion of spirits. He republished the General Order issued
by Hunter (to suppress illicit distillation), which King had
enforced and had supported by an additional Order in 1805.
He issued stringent Orders on various subjects. It was
asserted by his enemies that he unduly interfered with the
functions of Courts, and the Judge-Advocate, Atkins, swore
that when Gore was indicted for felony, Bligh sent a
written Order from the Hawkesbury, directing that the
trial then proceeding should be stayed, and that the
magistrates should not meet until Bligh’s return to
Sydney. He was accused of harshness towards captured
runaways, against whom, when one indictment failed,
a second was preferred. The lash seems to have been
inflicted even wupon the free. Eight men, one of
whom was free by servitude, were charged with stealing
a boat (Jan. 1807). They pleaded that their object was
to appeal to the generosity of a captain of a ship about to
leave the harbour. They were acquitted of stealing, and
were then tried before the Magisterial Court, seven for
absconding, and the free man for assisting the seven.
They were sentenced : One to receive 1000 lashes ; three to
500 lashes; one to hard labour at Newcastle with an iron
collar; one, “free from servitude, 200 lashes and three
years’ hard labour ; one, emancipated, 200 lashes and three
years’ hard labour ; and one, 200 lashes and three years’
hard labour, and to work in the gaol gang until further
orders.”

. Bligh was vexed to find houses built on land originally
reserved by Phillip, but leased by his successors. The
symmetry of his own grounds was encroached upon. In July
1807 he issued a General Order for the removal ¢ of a
number of houses adjacent to Government House, to its
great annmoyance now occupied by (six enumerated persons)
and others.”” The occupants might remove the materials,
and build on such other unoccupied ground as might wek
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Wentworth was . reprimanded in accordance with the
sentence—that Bligh announced his intention to suspend
Wentworth ; that Atkins remonstrated against such a
procedure, as it was contrary to law to punish a man twice
for one offence; and that Bligh retorted: ‘“ The law, sir!
Damn the law; my will is-the law, and woe unto the man
that dares. disobey it.”" Atkins also swore that on other
occasions when the proceedings of the Court were submitted
to Bligh, the Governor used language which hurt (his)
feelings exceedingly.”” These instances prove that the
letter from Harris to King’s wife was founded on occur-
rences then rife in the colony; and which were so galling
in October 1807, that it was thought by some that the
reign of terror under which they were groaning could not
last long.

Before dealing with Bligh’s deposition, it is proper to
advert to Norfolk Island. The nephew of Captain Kent,
of H.M.S. Bujfalo, was acting-commander of H.M.S.
Porpoise on the Australian coasts during Bligh’s govern-
ment, buf commanded the Lady Nelson, when he was sent
(Sept. 1807) upon the ungracious service of compelling the
settlers to leave Norfolk Island. King’s remonstrances
against the abandonment of the island were not heeded by
the Secretary of State. On the 80th Dec. 1806, Bligh was
instructed to take measures forthwith for withdrawing the
‘““ gettlers and all the inhabitants, together with their live
and dead stock, the civil and military establishment, and -
the stock belonging to government.”  Grants of land were
to be made ““either in the new settlement of Port Dalrymple,
or of Hobart Town,” to the different classes of persons
removed.

Bligh sent Kent with written instructions to Piper, the
commandant. ‘No application is to be made to me (he
said) by any settler or person whatever in order to change
the Minister’s commands ; everything must be done as he
has directed.” Kent deposed on oath, afterwards, that he
carried verbal orders to Piper, ‘“that he was to send the
settlers off the island, and in case any of them refused to
g0, he was to use military force; and if any of them took

® Despatch. Mr. Windham to Governor Bligh.
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the Secretary of State on the recommendation of the Privy
Council. Bligh exclaimed, ‘“ Damn the Privy Council! and
damn the Secretary of State too! What have they to
do with me? You have made a number of false represen-
tations respecting your wool by which you have obtained
this land.” In the course of the morning, however, Bligh,
accompanied by King and Major Abbott, visited Macarthur’s
house In the neighbourhood, and saw some of the sheep
depastured there; but even then used violent language.
This is Macarthur’s account. Bligh denied its truth, but
when asked, ¢ Will you venture to re-state upon your oath
that you never did utter any of those expressions (in the
presence of Major Abbott and Lt. Minchin), or any words
to the like effect?”’ he tempered his denial by saying, ¢ To
the best of my recollection I know of nothing of this kind
of conversation taking place.” Abbott on oath confirmed
Macarthur’s statement. It may be that in anger Bligh
used words which he could not afterwards recollect. If so,
he proved in one way that unfitness for his oftice of which
the use of the words would have convicted him in another.
Even coarser expressions were sworn to as used by him on
other occasions.

The distress caused by the floods in 1806 caused high
prices, and seed-wheat and corn were dear. Bligh con-
tinued the relief measures adopted by King. Macarthur
had taken the promissory note of Bligh’s bailiff, Thomson,
for the repayment of wheat, advanced by Macarthur. Such
transactions were common. After Thomson gave his note
the flood of 1806 occurred, and there was a disturbance of
prices. Thomson refused to render back the quantity he
had received. The value, he alleged, was altogether
changed. Macarthur replied that Thomson himself had
not been a sufferer from the flood, and was as strongly
bound to comply with his contract as Macarthur would
have been on the other hand if no flood had occurred, and
wheat had become cheaper. The case was referred to the
Appeal Court, where Bligh decided against Macarthur.
He, indignant, ceased to go to the Governor’s house.

Another cause of quarrel arose. Abbott had sent to
England for a still. His agent put it on board the
Dairt, of which Macarthur was part owner. Without any
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cessively three other sites which Bligh refused to grant.
Grimes told him of a situation which Bligh would grant. Mac-
arthur declined it and Bligh desired Grimes to say that he
would not *‘locate either of the three situations you have
fixed upon, and will not allow you to build on your lease, or
make any erections until the Governor may receive orders
respecting that spot from England; and that the Governor
will not receive any letters from you on the subject.”

Macarthur, in writing, regretted that the ‘‘ three situa-
tions” were not approved of, declined to accept the
objectionable allotment, and begged ‘‘leave to retain the
lease’ in his possession. He had commenced to fence the
ground by means of the labour of soldiers of the New South
Wales Corps. Bligh desired Johnston to order that the
soldiers should not go on with the work. Johnston com-
plied. The posts were placed loosely in the post-holes, and
the rails were on the ground. Macarthur stood by talking to
Major Abbott and Kemp, when an emancipated conviet,
a ‘‘superintendent of labour,” rode up, and in reply to
a question said he had orders from the Governor to remove
any post fixed in the ground. Macarthur immediately fixed
one. The overseer alighted, pulled out the post ‘“by order
of the Governor,” and added: ‘“When the axe is laid to the
root the tree must fall.”

Grimes, the Surveyor-General, had recently returned to
the colony. He deposed that on being requested by another
lessee (who was to be disturbed) to put the Governor’s
message in writing, Bligh told him in a very violent manner
at his peril to do so.

The pulling down of the post fixed by Macarthur occurred
(Jan. 1808) while he was under committal for trial upon a
charge by means of which one at least of Bligh’s abettors
hoped to crush him. The cause of Crossley’s special
enmity cannot be told; but Macarthur was obnoxious to
the dissolute because his domestic life was pure, and his
imperious temper was not apt to conciliate those who
differed from him. The petard which was to hoist him
was found in an Order of Governor King’s to prevent
escape of convicts from the colony. Atkins swore (in
England) that Crossley and the Governor had previously
concerted the terms of an information against Macartaur,
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of the New South Wales Corps—Atkins being the Judge-
Advocate. Between the committal and the day of trial
Macarthur was on bail. On the 25th Jan. the Court
assembled. The members were sworn, and as Atkins was
about to take the oath prescribed for him, Macarthur inter-
posed with a protest. He declared that he had three times
vainly applied for a copy of the indictment or information
against him, that in this unprecedented situation he had
appealed to the Governor ‘‘to appoint some disinterested
person to preside at the trial.” To this His Excellency
was pleased to answer : ‘‘ That the law must take its course,
a8 he does not feel justified to use any interference with the
executive power,” by which ‘I suppose is meant the
judicial authority, and I humbly conceive His Excellency’s
power must be the executive.”” Thus wronged, Macarthur
appealed to the members of the Court, “under an entire
confidence that what I can prove to be my right, you, as
men of honour, will grant me.” He protested against
Atkins “being allowed to sit as one of the judges,” because
there was a suit between them to be submitted to His
Majesty’s Ministers; because Atkins had ‘‘for many years
cherished a rancorous inveteracy’” against him, ‘“displayed
in the propagation of malignant falsehoods;” because there
was a conspiracy between Atkins and Crossley to deprive
Macarthur of property, liberty, honour, and life: of this, he -
continued, ¢ I have the proof in my hands in the writing of
Crossley?? (here it is, gentlemen, it was dropped from the
pocket of Crossley, and brought to me);” because only by
convicting Macarthur could Atkins escape an action for
false imprisonment; and because Atkins had arrived at a
foregone conclusion by declaring that the bench of magis-
trates had the power to punish Macarthur by fine and
imprisonment. In conclusion, he cited eight authorities on
the right of challenge of jurors, and maintained that, the
Judge-Advocate presiding in the Criminal Court, the

12 Crossley, like many of his class, was a dissipated rogue. When drunk
at the Hawkesbury, he vain-gloriously exhibited a MS. draft of the indict-
ment he had framed against Macarthur. An Irishman, who was present,

icked it up and gave it to Macarthur. It corresponded with the
?orma.l document found among the papers seized afterwards by Johnston
in the Judge-Advocate’s office.
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protection, and they entreated the Governor to grant if.
In a separate letter they stated that they were ‘not
defensible in giving up the papers,” required by Bligh, to
any person unless your Excellency thinks proper to appoint
another Judge-Advocate to proceed on the trial of John
Macarthur, Esq.” Bligh (at ‘ three-quarters past three
o’clock”) peremptorily demanded, ‘“finally in writing,
whether you will deliver these papers or not, and I again
repeat that you are no Court without the Judge-Advocate.”
The officers expressed their willingness to give attested
copies, or to give the originals to any one appointed as
Judge-Advocate for the trial of Macarthur, but they would
keep the originals for their justification, and added, ‘“The
Court constituted by your Excellency’s precept, and sworn
in by the Judge-Advocate, beg leave to acquaint you that
they have adjourned to wait your Excellency’s further
pleasure.” It seems strange that they did not cite the case
in which, without any rebuke from England, a court-martial
had formerly placed the Judge-Advocate under arrest, in
the time of King.® Bligh then (at half-past five o’clock),
scrupulously recording the time, despatched a missive to
Major Johnston (commanding the New South Wales Corps),
requesting to see him without delay. Johnston, who was
at his house four miles from Sydney, returned a verbal
message to the effect that he was ‘“too ill to come to
Sydney, and was unable to write.” He had been thrown
from his chaise. Thus ended the first day of disorder.

In the morning of the 26th Jan., the anniversary of the
foundation of the colony, when the six assembled officers
learned that Macarthur had been lodged!* in gaol (on the
warrant of Arndell, Campbell, and Palmer), they wrote
again to the Governor. They sent him an attested copy of
Macarthur’s protest; reminded him of their oath well and
truly to try Macarthur’s case; prayed him to appoint some
impartial person to execute the office of Judge-Advocate;
informed him that they found with much concern that

'3 Vide supra, pp. 250 and 254, et seq.

'* When Macarthur reached the gaol the gaoler told him there were
some ruffians sworn in as constables, and armed, who would probably aim
at Macarthur’s life ; but he added—*‘ There is a cutlass for each of us, and
we will sell our lives dearly.”
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measures would ensue, would occasion considerable uneasiness. My
medical friend had directed me on no account to leave my room; but
sensible of the danger of the crisis, and anxious to avert impending
evil, I neglected that advice, got myself dressed, and was driven to town
by the aid of my family. On my arrival, as I passed through the streets
everything denoted terror and consternatien. I saw in every direc-
tion groups of people with soldiers amongst them, apparently in
deep and earnest conversation. I repaired immediately to the barrack,
and in order to separate the military from the people made the drum
beat to orders. The soldiers immediately repaired to the barrack-yard,
where they were drawn up and where they remained. In the mean time
an immense number of people, comprising all the respectable inhabitants,
except those who were immediately connected with Governor Bligh, rushed
into the barrack and surrounded me, repeating with importunate clamour
a solicitation that I would immediately place the Governor under arrest.
They solemnly assured me, if I did not, an insurrection and massacre
would certainly take place, and added that the blood of the colonists would
be upon my head.”

They told him that *“ popular fury would burst’” upon Bligh
and his agents unless Bligh were arrested. They said they
feared that Macarthur ‘‘ would be vrivately made away
with.” Johnston (who had reached Sydney about five p.m.),
under such persuasions, while at the barracks, issued, as
“Lt.-Governor and Major commanding New South Wales
Corps,” an order “to the keeper of His Majesty’s gaol at
Sydney,” directing him to deliver

‘into the custody of Garnham Blaxcell and Nicholas Bayley, Esquires, the
body of John Macarthur. Esq., who was committed. . . . it havin,

been represented to me by the officers composing the Court of Criminal
Judicature that the bail bond entered into by the said Garnham Blaxcell
and Nicholas Bayley remains in full force. Herein fail not, as you will
answer the same at your peril.”

Thus adjured, by the master of the only legions in
Australia, the gaoler yielded. Macarthur was escorted to
the barracks.

From the Government House could be seen, across the
valley in which Pitt-street has supplanted the Tank
Stream of former time, the progress of Macarthur from
the gaol to the barracks, where Wynyard Square was after-
wards formed.

The Governor had dined when the Provost-Marshal
entered with Johnston’s order for Macarthur’s liberation.
He rose hastily and began to arrange his papers in an
upper room. Mr. Campbell, Mr. Palmer, and Crossley
were at the house. The former when examined in Sydney
in 1808 declared that ¢‘Crossley was the principal adviser
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by an officer a letter calling upon Bligh to resign, he
marched upon Government House as rapidly as in 1804 he
had chased the rebels. The troops having been formed in
the barrack-square, Johnston declared (in his defence) :

““ We marched to the Government House attended by a vast concourse
of people, who were all influenced with indignation against the Governor.
On our arrival I learned that the officers I had sent had not then been able
to obtain an interview, but that the Governor had concealed himself. This
intelligence was truly alarming, for I had everything to fear from the
agitation it was likely to produce. I immediately drew up the soldiers
in line before the Government House and between it and the people, who
were thus made to keep a respectful distance; the troops were halted and
made to stand at ease. I then directed a small number to proceed in
search of the Governor, while I waited below to protect the family from
injury or insult. At length he was found, and brought to the room
where I was.”

Mrs. Putland, Bligh’s daughter, courageously but vainly
struggled to prevent the soldiers from entering the house.

As to the manner in which Bligh was found, there were
disputes. His enemies aver that he was found concealed
under a bedstead up-stairs. Lieut. Minchin, the officer
who took Bligh to Johnston, swore that one of the soldiers
who found Bligh said he was so found; and Sergeant
Sutherland swore that he was one of two who found him
under the bed. Bligh’s friends denied this, and Bligh
stated that he retired to destroy some papers, was busily
engaged when arrested, and that it was ‘ his contemplation
how he could possibly get clear of the troops, and get
to the Hawkesbury,”” where he thought the people would
flock to his standard. If he had any hope thus to escape
there was no pusillanimity in hiding, and there would have
been folly in exposing himself ; but a charge of cowardice
made against him he repudiated with scorn. He had
fought at the Dogger Bank, Gibraltar, and Camperdown,
and had, after the battle of Copenhagen, where he ¢ com-
manded the Glatton, been sent for by Lord Nelson to
receive his thanks publicly on the quarter-deck. Was it
for me, then, to sully my reputation and to disgrace the
medal I wear by shrinking from death, which I had braved
in every shape?"'%6

'¢ Bligh wrote (April 1808) to Downing Street that some inhabitants were
‘“privately discontented, and the arch-fiend John Macarthur so influenced
their minds as to make them dissatisfied with Government. . . . He has
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which the officers were unlawfully pursuing. This view is
refuted by the facts and by the writings and sayings of the
principal actors in the drama. A striking commentary on
the facts is furnished by a letter (18th Feb. 1808) from
Major Abbott (to the late Governor King). The writer
was the officer whom Bligh had wished to summon to his
side.

«“T certainly gave my hearty concurrence to the measure of arrestin
the Governor, but as there are several things done which I disapproved, %
am unwilling to take more blame upon myself than I am deserving of.
I should tell you that I was appointed to act as Judge-Advocate
in the room of Mr. Atkins, but I declined the office. It was then given
to Grimes. It was strongly urged, but I persisted in my refusal. .
I think it likely several of us may be sent for, and particularly Jolmsbon,
who, had he followed the advice I gave him previous to his taking the
step, that in that case—arresting the Governor—to send for Colonel
Paterson" immediately afterwards, and to go hence with the Governor to
account for his conduct, it would show that he had not done so to obtain
the command. . . . I likewise objected to Macarthur’s trial since
Governor Bligh’s arrest, because the Governor could nor would not ap ea.r
against him now, and Atkins, the former Judge-Advocate, decline
rosecute. .
““Had the Governor not been put under arrest there would have been
a mutiny ; there is no doubt of it. Never a body of men have behaved
themselves more orderly and quiet than the Corps. . . . They were
highly incensed at the conduct of the Sydn const,a.bles whom Mr. Gore
put in, the worst of characters . . . ese constables were really
encouraged by Gore to msulb the soldlers, and I am sorry to say the
Governor connived at it.”

The soldiery were, therefore, provoked by Bligh before he
summoned their officers to answer for ‘ certain crimes,”
which Crossley declared, and Atkins submitted, amounted
to ‘ usurpation of His Majesty’s government,” and tended
‘“ to rebellion or other outrageous treason.”

It is clear that nothing savouring of rebellion entered
into the minds of Johnston or of those who acted with him.
They deposed Bligh for arbitrary proceedings prompted by
an ex-convict of low character. They did so, just as officers
of a ship might seize a mad captain who, takmg the helm,
steers straight to a rocky coast. Technica.lly they mutiny,
but in spirit they consult the highest interests and preserve
the ship. Johnston saved New South Wales from disaster,

'* Abbott, however, was the first to sign the address imploring Johnston
to make a stlpulauon, with any senior officer displacing him, that John-
ston’s acts should be held good.
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7000 gallons from other vessels, and the supply on shore
was deemed sufficient. Johnston resisted all solicitations,
and sent a colonial schooner to escort the American vessel
to sea. Four days afterwards she was taken to Broken
Bay to smuggle her cargo. Johnston sent armed boats
from H.M.S. Porpoise. The American ship was seized in
Slagrante delicto. A Vice-Admiralty Court was assembled,
but although the evidence was strong, would not condemn
her as lawful prize. The American master protested, and
appealed; and Johnston plaintively said: ‘Your Lordship
will be convinced that the condemnation of a ship for
smuggling will not easily be accomplished in New -South
Wales.” He succeeded in getting rid of the vessel at last,
and gave offence to many on shore by so doing.

His opponents blamed him for preventing public meet-
ings, lest they should be adverse to him; but the charge
was aimless. Before and after Johnston’s day no meetings
were permitted except under sanction of the Governor; and
Macquarie, as will be seen, adopted strange measures on
the subject. But there is proof that disaffection reached
Johnston’s ears. A remarkable appeal made by him to
officers, military and civil, still exists. It was written
exactly three months after Bligh’s deposition :—

¢ Gentlemen,—I have observed the discontent which has for some time
prevailed amongst a few officers with the greatest concern ; and as I have
unquestionable evidence that the discontent has entirely arisen from the
confidence I have reposed in Mr. Macarthur, Secretary to the Colony, I
have now assembled all of you together who are doing duty at head-
quarters. and have sent a copy of this letter to the detached posts, that

. those officers, having anything to allege against that gentleman, may
come forward and distinctly state in writing what it is they have to charge
him with. If he has committed any offence, it is not my intention to shut
my ears against the proofs of it. If anything improper in his conduct can
be made to appear, he shall be immediately dismissed from his office ; and I
hope some of you, gentlemen, will have public spirit sufficient to supply
his place, and to perform the laborious duties Mr. Macarthur now
discharges without reward or emolument. T'o preserve the peace of the
settlement, and to promote the prosperity and honour of His Majesty’s
Government, are my only objects, and I am confident those objects cannot
he secured but by the annihilation of the party spirit that has unfortunately
too much prevailed almost ever since the day when you all urged me to
assume the governmment, and pledged your words of honour to support me
in the measure. How far a desire to deprive me of the services of Mr.
Macarthur at such a crisis as the present can be considered as an

observance of that promise it will rest with those gentlemen who are
adverse to him to explain. For my own part, I think no officer wil\ aner

BB 2
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surveying the position he wrote to Paterson that Bligh had
been

¢ principally advised by George Crossley, Messrs. Campbell, Palmer, and
Fulton, and it is generally believed that they intended to have established
a monopoly of the public stores and revenues of the colony at the expense
of the interests of Government, as well as of every individual unconnected
with themselves, and in the prosecution of their plans they have gone such
lengths by violating private property and infringing personal hbert{ as to

occasion nmveml terror amongst all classes of people from the highest to
most obscure.”

He saw no choice but to maintain the status quo (6th
Aug.) until relieved by Paterson’s arrival or orders from
England.

Bligh, though under arrest, was treated with some kind
of respect. Taking umbrage when Foveaux declined to
reinstate him or to put him in command of H.M.S. Porpoise,
he sent his gardener to tell Foveaux that henceforth no
more vegetables were to be supplied to the Governor de facto
from the garden of the Governor de jure.

He demanded his papers from Foveaux. Foveaux left it
to Johnston to determine ‘“how far this request can be
complied with.” Johnston declared that he had seized only
what he thought necessary in administration of the govern-
ment, but that, ‘‘as you have relieved me in the command,
I am ready, as I signified to you on your arrival, to deliver
all the papers whenever you shall be pleased to receive
them.”

In Aug. 1808, Bligh remonstrated with Paterson (as
Lt.-Colonel and Lt.-Governor) against ‘‘ the mutiny of the
corps under your command.” He would enter into no
conditions, but declared that all the troops were bound to
obey him. Paterson had other sources of information, and
replied that it was strange that six months elapsed after
Bligh’s ‘“eritical displacement” before any remonstrance
was sent to the Colonel of the corps. As to replacing
Bligh, an attempt to do so might cause evils which Pater-
son’s life could not ‘counterbalance.” ‘It has been
further represented to me that your departure from the
colony has alone been protracted by yourself; but I beg to
submit to your judgment that your own interests require
an immediate presence before those who only now can
decide your conduct.” Paterson, like Johnston, considered
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could have refused the application for the writ. Arthur,
finding the knot * too intrinse to unloose,” cut if, and sent
the prisoner to England to be tried.

Arthur sought to carry out great works—great, that is to
say, relatively. In the youth of the colony a substantial
wharf; the Bridgewater Causeway; the roads to Richmond
and elsewhere ;—were of momentous importance. The Go-
vernor did not escape the imputation that some of his works
were undertaken to benefit the property of himself or his
friends, but it seems to have been utterly unmerited. The
-wild cruelties practised against the natives under his prede-
cessors have been alluded to. Retreat was impossible for
the natives. They turned upon their persecutors. —Mus-
quito, the adopted warrior, and a native known as Tom, led
them in their reprisals. They watched till firearms had
been discharged, and then rushed upon their victims before
the arms could be reloaded. They inspired such terror that
houses were abandoned to their mercy. Arthur by pro-
clamation warned the whites (1824) against ill-treating the
natives who were ‘‘under British government and protec-
tion.” He would cause infringers of his proclamations to
be prosecuted. He warned in vain. Irrespective of the
government and its orders, the work of killing went on at
private charge. The special historian of Tasmania, West,*®
thus summarizes it: ‘‘ The smoke of a fire was the signal
for a black hunt. The sportsmen would discharge their
guns, then rush towards the fires and sweep away the whole
party. The wounded were brained ; the infant cast into
the flames, the musket was driven into thequivering flesh.”
In revenge the blacks attacked and burned homesteads. A
woman rushed from a burning house at the Big River, and
threw herself on her knees to ask pity while her clothes
were on flame. One of the blacks quenched the fire, and
told her to go safely away. But such instances of pity were
rare. Words could not paint the horror of the time. Even
Arthur, while deprecating cruelty, joined the general de-
mand:! for obtaining quiet which could only be obtained by
annihilation. The popular demand found vent in a news-

2 ¢¢The History of Tasmania,” By Rev. .J. West. Launceston (Tas-

mania), 1852.
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their researches they glanced back to the first collision at
Risdon in 1804, in which ‘‘the numbers slain of men,
women, and children, have been estimated as high as
fifty.”s! Witnesses described the scene to the committee.
It was undeniable that since that fatal day intercourse with
the natives had never been ¢ perfectly secure’ for the weak.
The blacks were, in the opinion of the committee (who
could take evidence only on one side), cruel and crafty, of a
wanton and savage spirit; but they had ‘“ no hesitation in
tracing to the manifold insults and injuries which these
unhappy people have sustained from the dissolute and
abandoned characters whom they have unfortunately
encountered, the universal and permanent excitement of
that spirit which now prevails.” They told with horror
how, in former days, a white man, having killed a native
while endeavouring to seize the native’s wife, ¢ cut off the
dead man’s head and obliged the woman to go with him
carrying it suspended round her neck.” It was a relief to
find that the government had striven, though vainly, to
arrest brutalities. Collins in 1810, Davey in 1818, Sorell
in 1817, and Arthur in 1824, had proclaimed that ill-usage
of the natives would be punished.

The recommendations of the committee were few.
Settlers should be always prepared to defend themselves,
and should point out to their servants ‘‘ the fatal con-
. sequences which have resulted to the entire community
from the base and barbarous conduct which some of their
class have pursued towards the natives; and how much it
behoves them to desist from a repetition of such disgraceful
conduct, from a regard even to their own safety, seeing that
not one of those barbarians by whom the natives were
thus irritated has ultimately escaped the effects of their
vengeance.”” The kangaroos and other game in the ‘‘ limits
prescribed to the natives’” ought not to be molested. Police
and military should be employed. The ¢ roving parties”
should be more carefully managed.

3 It may be remembered that when Collins transmitted a narrative of
the occurrence, it spoke of three natives as having been ‘‘killed on the
spot.” The inquiry in 1830 elicited facts which it was the duty of
(g)(ilins and of Governor King to have ascertained in 1804. Perhaps

the truth was told more openly when lapse of years had obscured
responsibility. (See ante, pp. 323, 324.)
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and the military. More than eight hundred soldiers,
between seven and eight hundred armed convicts, and
gettlers who raised the total force to more than four
thousand, advanced as beaters. Over mountain and fell
they toiled. The Governor was ubiquitous and congratula-
tory. In October Mr. Walpole, commanding an auxiliary
roving party, captured one native. The settlers at East
Bay Neck were directed ‘“to keep free from everything that
might create alarm, or interrupt the passage of the fugitive
natives . . . in order that nothing may present itself to
deter the aborigines from entering the Peninsula.” South
of the Prosser river were three hills, called the Three
Thumbs, densely covered with timber large and small.
‘Within the wood the natives were supposed to be crouch-
ing. Chosen men entered this ominous spot. Fires still
smouldering were found, but no natives. The cordon was
pushed on. From the ‘“Camp, Sorell Rivulet,” Arthur
dated his orders for the final advance to East Bay Neck.
From Spring Bay to Sorell, thirty miles in width, the
tramp of men beat time to the sea,—and that was all. No
native was in front. Those who had once been in front
had by some means found passage through the lines.

The expedition had cost £80,000 directly, and much
indirectly, but had failed. Nevertheless it did not tend to
make Arthur unpopular. His exertions commended him
to the good wishes of the community. He exchanged con-
gratulations with them on the unanimous effort that had
been made. Hardly a dissentient appeared at a large
meeting called to thank him. In reply, Arthur exhibited
his sense of justice by stating that it was undeniable that
cruelty and oppression by “stock-keepers and other convicts
in the interior, and sealers on the coast,” had goaded the
blacks to revenge. ‘‘This fact must continue to disarm us
of every particle of resentment.”

The roving parties meanwhile were shooting many and
capturing few. It was felt that a reward per head was a
kind of blood-money disgraceful to the English name. The
Aborigines’ Protection Society was earnest in favour of
giving Robinson a fair field. How could he peacefully go
to the blacks when hunting parties of his countrymen took
their lives at random in every direction? Arthur connenied.






TRUGANINA. CAPTIVES. ISLAND IMPRISONMENT. 571

peace was given. The spears were thrown down. Eumarrah
found two brothers under the guidance of Montpeliata.
Others found friends. The dark children of the forest, the
wild and the subdued, mingled their lamentations for the
lost with their joy at an unexpected meeting. They had
secured sixteen muskets in the war, and produced them.
Ammunition they had none. The whole party returned
peacefully, but Robinson could hardly allay the fears of the
settlers as the dreaded tribe camped near their abodes.
Neither could the white population credit that the tribe
which had held them in terror contained only sixteen men.
The march to Hobart Town was a triumphal progress. The
Governor welcomed the natives at his residence, and
decorated them with ribbons. One of them, Ondia,
exhibited his prowess with the spear, piercing a cray-fish
at sixty yards’ distance. But the captives of Robinson’s
conciliation were living memorials of bygone war. None
of them were without wounds. Again, at Port Davey, Port
Macquarie, and other places, Robinson captured small
parties of the remnants of tribes. Once at the Arthur
river, on the north-west coast, his life was saved by Tru-
ganina. The natives would not trust him. He could not
swim, but he sat on a log which Truganina guided across
the river. Subsequently even these poor creatures were
peacefully enticed, and in 1884 it was supposed that only
two families remained at large.

In Dec. 1834 the last captives were supposed to have
been made at the Western Bluff. Four women, a man,
and three boys,—outcasts on their native soil only one
generation after its first invasion by the whites,—seeing
Mr. Robinson’s natives, rushed forward and embraced
them. They had, they said, thought of surrendering before,
but shots were fired at them when they approached the
white man’s dwellings. They had fled to the less inhospi-
table mountains covered with snow. With their friendly
captor they entered Hobart Town on 22nd Jan. 1835. A
subscription, richly deserved, and grants of land were given
to Robinson. His captives meanwhile had been located in
various places. Sir John Pedder, the Chief Justice,
denounced the project of transporting the natives to an
island where they must pine away and die. Rtwson






EXTINCTION OF BUSHRANGING. 573

was captured, and sent back to Macquarie Harbour, whence
he again escaped with another man. This man he slew,
and thus filled to overflowing the measure of his crimes.
Horror seized him, and he gave himself up to the execu-
tioner.

Such was the material with which Arthur had to cope.
He was not slow to denounce the cowardice of those who
yielded without a struggle to robbers. As far as he was
concerned, the march of the law was unrelenting. One
hundred and three criminals suffered death in two years.
All instances of bravery in capturing bushrangers were
sedulously proclaimed and rewarded by grants of land.
The reins of government were tightened in every direction.
Arthur notified that the flagitious proceedings of the
criminale were often caused by the ‘ill-judged neglect of
discipline or corrupt toleration of irregularity’” shown by
the masters. From such masters he declared that he would
withdraw all ¢‘support and indulgence.”

Criminals knew what to expect from him. No morbid
feeling, no sensitiveness, would restrain him in administer-
ing the law in such a manner as justice seemed to require.
He was not, like Macquarie,—variable. Acting on principle,
he was at the last what he was at the first. As a Christian
man, before he left the colony he sought reconciliation with
men whom he had stringently dealt with, and by whom he
had been bitterly opposed ; but, as a Governor, he never
swerved from the path he had chosen.

In 1827 several bands of bushrangers were extinguished.
On the 8rd July eight men died on the scaffold. Ten bush-
rangers were captured a few days afterwards, and Arthur
issued a public order thanking the magistrates by whose
exertions the robbers had been secured. Two accomplices
were subsequently caught, and in August the twelve were
convicted, and nine of them were executed. Arthur
announced that he commuted the sentences of three because
through their means the others had been kept from murder
or bloodshed. But the commutation was only to transpor-
tation for life. To witness the ‘“awful spectacle” of the
execution of the nine men, all the convicts in Hobart Town
were compelled to leave their tasks; and the notice added,
““In order to prevent the further effusion of Hlood trom Moo
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The latter, though kind-hearted, was unequal to a task
requiring strength, and it was good for the colony when,
many years after accompanying Colonel Collins from Port
Phillip to the Derwent, he was pensioned, and the earnest
Bedford took his place.

* The social immoralities which others had viewed with
languid disapproval, if not complicity, were abashed when
Arthur as Governor and Bedford as preacher addressed them-
selves to the task of reform. What the latter pronounced from
the pulpit it was found that the former would enforce so far
a8 lossof office could enforceit. Bedford assailed the open con-
tempt for the conjugal tie in the lives of many holders of im-
portant offices, and when the Governor publicly notified that
they could not retain office unless they could doso asreputable
persons, there was mingled terror and indignation. In vain
the culprits sought to bend the Governor’s will. They turned
to the resolute chaplain without success. They yielded ; and
their descendants have reason o bless the order which con-
verted shameless dwelling-places into homes at least for-
mally virtuous. The public admired the courage of the
men who assailed vice where ‘‘robes and furred gowns”
strove to protect it. Arthur did not restrict his sympathies
to the Church of England, of which he was a member ; and
when Sir Richard Bourke, in 1835, proposed to endow
various religious bodies impartially in New South Wales,
Arthur informed his Council that the views sanctioned by
Lord Glenelg were in accord with his own suggestions.
The pecuniary grants to the several denominations were
increased, and the Governor hoped that such a ““distribu-
tion of the revenue would suppress every factitious cause of
discontent.”” It was reserved for his successor, Sir John
Franklin, to legislate formally upon the subject in imitation
of Governor Bourke. '

The schools in Van Diemen’s Land were an object of .
deep solicitude with the Governor during his career. He'
longed to establish such an one as might afford superior
culture. In 1819 it is recorded that there were no more:
than 164 children receiving instruction in the colony.
Minor schools of various kinds were formed to meet the
pressing wants, and during Colonel Sorell’s government a
superintendent of schools was appointed, and 2 mooitons\

LL
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Crown amongst the settlers according to their resfective means of improv-
ing them, and of impartially considering their claims in the disposal of
assigned servants. . . . Inall these mattersI have felt the full weight
of responsibility in contending with the extreme practical difficulties
which have almost daily presented themselves, and which I never could
have successfully withstoojl but from the support I have uniformly received.

.o I shall ever most highly appreciate the encouragemeat I have
received, the strength which my government has derived from it, and the
gratifying testimonies I have received of feelings towards myself personally
since { received the intelligence of His Majesty’s intention to appoint m
successor. . . . If my labours have been great, so has been my reward.
I have witnessed the most extraordinary rise perhaps ever known within
so short a period in the value of property. The foundation is now firmly
laid, enterprise and the desire to improve have full scope, and their results
will be, I anticipate, increasingly developed every year. . . . Having
presided over the Legislative g‘ouncil from the period of its constitution,
now ten years aﬁo, I cannot take my leave of you without the most lively
emotions, and whilst I am most deeply sensible of your invariable kindness
and forbearance towards myself, permit me to request for my successor a
continuance of that support which you have so cheerfully and zealously,
during so long a period, extended to me.

“ Gentlemen, with the most sincere wishes for your future prosperity
and happiness, I now bid you farewell.”

The material progress had indeed been great. His
relative, Mr. Montagu, the Colonial Secretary, compiled
tables which showed that during Arthur’s rule the revenue
had risen from £16,866 to £106,689; the imports from
£62,000 to £583,146; the exports from £14,500 to
£820,679. The number of mills had been increased from
5 to 47; of colonial vessels from 1 to 71; of churches from
4 to 18; and the population had grown from 12,000 to
40,000 in 1836.%

% ¢ History of Tasmania.” West. Vol. i., p. 177,
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as members of the Legislative Council. In 1803 Campbell
had been one of the few respected persons who abetted
Governor Bligh when, under the guidance of Crossley the
convict, Macarthur was lawlessly imprisoned. Campbell
had given evidence in favour of Bligh at the trial of Colonel
Johnston. In 1825, Macarthur and Campbell were styled
¢ trusty and well-beloved,” in a warrant under the hand of
the King appointing them members of the Legislative
Council ; and the warrant was subscribed by Lord Bathurst,
from whom it had been so hard to wring consent that
Macarthur should be permitted to return to his home in
1817. The warrant of 1825 was revoked in 1827, and a
new one was issued; but the change was merely formal.
Stewart was no longer named in it, but the “officer next in
command to the Commander of the Forces’’ was placed in
the Council, and Colonel Lindesay (89th Regt.) in that
capacity took his seat. The other members were re-
appointed. Soon after Darling’s arrival it was thought
advisable to present an address to him, and a public
meeting was called, at which William C. Wentworth was
the moving spirit. He admitted that the new Council was
an improvement on its predecessor, but advocated agitation
for an elected Assembly, and sounded the popular note of
taxation by representation. Darling replied in general
terms; and, without committing himself to any party,
proceeded with his new Colonial Secretary to introduce
administrative reforms which previous laxity had made
necessary. In this, as in his task of raising the tone of
society, the Governor was to look for aid from the Colonial
Secretary, who was noted as a man of science, and in
addition to his services under the Crown had been for many
years the highly esteemed Honorary Secretary of the
Linnean Society, which unanimously ordered a painting
of him by Sir Thomas Lawrence. That two persons freshly
arrived from the mother country should concur in removing
from the public offices some relics of the convict element
introduced by Macquarie and untouched by Brisbane, can
hardly be wondered at; yet Darling and Macleay incurred
the odium of the emancipists by weeding the departments.
The order which they had not found they attempted to
secure by checks and counter-checks. They tokoseN w
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waters, fed from the Snowy Mountains, were to bear him
to a new and unexpected terminus. Hume could not
accompany him, though asked to do so. Not only his skill
in the bush, but his knowledge of the natives caused regret
at his absence. On the Darling Sturt and Hume had seen
many natives, and no hostilities had taken place. Mr.
(afterwards Sir) George Macleay was Sturt’s companion
and friend in his new undertaking. Forming a depot on
the Murrumbidgee, near its junction with the Lachlan,
Sturt went down the river in a boat. They passed the
junction with the river which Hume had named after his
own father ; but Hume was not there to recognize it, and
Sturt unfortunately, but unwittingly, discarded Hume’s
patronymic, and named the river the Murray, in honour of
Sir George Murray, then Secretary of State. The boat
bore them bravely downwards; they saw hundreds of
natives ; they were saved from an attack of one tribe by
the heroism of another native (of a tribe recently seen),
who dashed across the river and arrested the uplifted arm
of a leader. They returned in 1830, amidst much privation
and in great prostration, and Sturt published a narrative
which proved him as modest as brave. They had traced
the united Murrumbidgee, Murray, and Darling waters into
Lake Alexandrina, and thence to the sea in Encounter Bay.
They had connected their journey across the land with the
labours of Flinders, and the footsteps of others. They had
found on the coast that the natives had seen white men
before, and, unlike their brethren in the interior, had been
made to dread fire-arms. Sturt’s people were watchful
and returned safely; and in all his explorations Sturt never
took the life of a native. Governor Darling acknowledged
his services by an official notice of his exploits, and the
Colonial Secretary, Mr. Macleay, had the pleasure to sée
his son’s name included as that of one who had done the
State some service in the expedition. A sad fate awaited
the next explorer who visited Lake Alexandrina. Captain
Barker, a brother officer of Sturt, had succeeded Captain
Stirling as commandani at Raffles Bay, and when that
settlement was, like its neighbour at Melville Island, aban-
doned in 1829, Barker was stationed at King George’s
Sound. Governor Darling instructed him fo hand over Vo
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129th. degree East Long., ‘“ it will not be easy to satisfy the
French, if they are desirous of establishing themselves
here, that there is any valid objection to their doing so on
the West Coast; and I therefore beg to suggest that this
difficulty would ‘be removed by a Commission .
describing the whole territory as within the government
Darling at once sent expeditions to occupy Western Port
and King George’s Sound. He confidentially enjoined the
officers in command to be careful, if they should see the
French, ¢ to avoid any expression of doubt as to the whole
of New Holland being within this government, any division
of it which may be supposed to exist under the designation
of New South Wales being merely ideal, and intended only
with a view of distinguishing the more settled part of the
country. Should this explanation not prove satisfactory it
will be proper, in that case, to refer them to this govern-
ment for any further information they may require.”

If the French should be found landed,—¢ you will, not-
withstanding, land the troops (two officers with eighteen
rank and file—agreeably to your instructions, and signify
that their continuance with any view to establishing them-
selves, or colonization, would be considered an unjustifiable
intrusion on His Britannic Majesty’s possessions.”

The French corvette L’Astrolabe arrived in Sydney soon
afterwards. Darling was informed by her commander that
the expedition was scientific only, but he wrote that it was
perhaps fortunate that the British ships Warspite, Success,
and Volage, were lying in Sydney. That fact, with a know-
ledge that H.M.S. Fly had sailed for Western Port, might
make the French captain ‘ more circumspeet in his pro-
ceedings than he otherwise would have been.”

Captain Wright took charge of the settlement at Western
Port. Captain Wetherall of H.M.S. Fly assisted in forming
it. Hamilton Hume was asked to go, but ‘“impaired health
prevented his complying.” Hovell (his fellow-traveller in
1824) accompanied Captain Wright. Captains Wetherall
and Wright furnished exhaustive reports. The former
spoke of the ‘ prospect of rendering Port Phillip in some
degree tributary to the establishment” at Western Port.
He soon perceived that Mr. Hovell was at fault, and
reported : “It is very evident that (Western Raork) = nok Noe






WESTERN PORT ABANDONED, 1828. BATMAN. 587

authorized the abandonment of the place, and early in
1828 Darling withdrew the whole establishment. But in
Van Diemen’s Land John Batman, one of those men who
(on account of the faculty possessed by Hamilton Hume of
divining their way through unknown tracts) were called
““good bushmen,” had in 1827 applied for a grant of land
at Western Port. He induced Mr. J. T. Gellibrand to join
him. They proposed to take live stock to the value of from
£4000 to £5000 to the spot where Batman would reside.
But Governor Darling wrote: ‘‘Acknowledge, and inform
them that no determination having been come to with
respect to the settlement at Western Port, it is not in my
power to comply with their request.” Batman, thus foiled
for the time, nursed his project until 1835, when he was
more successful. :

At King George’s Sound, Major Lockyer, the com-
mandant, selected the site of Albany, where a military
post was kept until it was transferred (1830) from the
control of New South Wales to the young colony formed
at Swan River in Western Australia.

Captain Stirling, R.N., had joined in exploring expedi-
tions in New South Wales, and had subsequently formed a
settlement at Rafles Bay. He had surveyed Swan River
in 1827. His report led to a project to form a settlement
there. Mr. Barrow wrote from the Admiralty to the
Colonial Office (1828), that with Western Port, King
George’s Sound, and Swan River ‘‘on the south and west,
and Raffles Bay on the north, I think we may consider
ourselves in unmolested possession of the great continent.’"

In 1829, Captain Fremantle, H.M.S. Challenger (des-
patched from India to Swan River) formally took possession
of “all that part of New Holland which is not included
within the territory of New South Wales.”

? The Earl of Ripon in 1833 thought the anxieties of 1826 groundless.
He wrote : *“ The present settlement at Swan River owes its origin,jyou
may perhaps be aware, to certain false rumours which had reached the
Government of the intentions of a foreign power to establish a colony,on
the West Coast of Australia. The design was for a time given up entirely
on grounds of public economy, and would not have been resumed but for
the offer of a party of gentlemen to embark in an undertaking of this
nature at their own risk upon receiving extensive grants of land, and on a
certain degree of protection and assistance for a limited period being
secured to them by the Government.”









590 GIBBON WAKEFIELD’S THEORY.

pelled belief. Society, officials, settlers, labourers, politics
were woven into his work *‘ The Opposition,” he said,

¢¢ consists of emancipated convicts who have obtained wealth and import-
ance ; of the children of convicts, and of certain free immigrants—men of
fiery, and in many cases of generous, tempers; of whom some cannot
tamely brook subjection in their own persons ; some hate oppression in
the abstract, and some are filled with & high ambition, like that which
urged the robber-shepherd to found Rome. These are the leaders of four-
fifths of the population. They are bent upon procuring for the colony a
government of colonial origin. They want triaf by jury and a Legislative
Assembly. They talk even of perfect independence. They are rebels,
every one of them, at heart ; and nothing but a sense of weakness deters
them from drawing the sword.”

He underrated the prospects of wool-growing. Produe-
tion, he thought, must soon outpace demand. The latter
was then supposed in England to be limited to thirty
million pounds, and Wakefield foresaw that Australia
would soon produce far more. He proclaimed the evils
of the convict system, and the curse it entailed. He
depicted a possible * extension of Britain.” The crime and
misery produced in Britain by excess of people in propor-
tion to territory, might be reduced if not annihilated by a
gystem which would place within reach of British popula-
tion the territory in the colonies. In one place people
hungered for land, in the other land panted for people.
He would not make the colonies ‘‘new societies, but
extensions of an old society.” If ‘“this plan be too magni-
ficent for execution may we not construct a smaller edifice
on this model ? In plain English—if the principles here
suggested be correct, why should they not be reduced
to practice upon whatever scale ?”’

In an Appendix he supplied terse articles—

1. That a payment in money of —— per acre be required for all future
grants of land without exception.

2. That all land now granted, and to be granted, throughout the
colony be declared liable to a tax of —— per cent. upon the actual rent.

3. That the proceeds of the tax upon rent and of sales form an
Emigration Fund, to be employed in the conveyance of British labourers
to the colony free of cost.

4. That those to whom the administration of the fund shall be entrusted
be empowered to raise money on that security, as money is raised on the
security of parish and county rates in England.

5. That the supply of labourers be as nearly as possible proportioned to
the demand for labour at each settlement, so that capitalists shall never
suffer from an urgent want of labourers, and that labour shall never want

well-paid employment.
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6. That in the selection of emigrants, an absolute preference be given
to young persons, and that no excess of males be conveyed to the colony
free of cost.

7. That colonists providing a passage for emigrant labourers, being
young persons and equal numbers of both sexes, be entitled to a payment
in money from the Emigration Fund, equal to the actual contract price
of a passage for so many labouring persons.

8. That grants be absolute in fee without any condition whatsoever, and
obtainable by deputy.

9. That any surplus of the proceeds of the tax upon rent and of sales,
over what is required for emigration, be employed in relief of other taxes,
and for the general purposes of Colonial Government.

If Wakefield’s belief were true, the principles on which
Western Australia had been founded were false. The year
1829 witnessed the publication and the experiment. For
this reason they are here placed side by side. The Coloni-
zation Society, which sprung from the anonymous author’s
ideas, will properly be dealt with hereafter.

It is sufficient to mention him now in connection with
the occupation of new lands.

While the land of Australia was thus parcelled out, the
treatment of its original inhabitants was of the customary
kind. On the Hunter River, in former times, the com-
mandant had availed himself of their services in capturing
runaways and bushrangers. Backed by a knowledge of his
support they had shown a courage and confidence not
exceeded by their skill in tracking. The usual injuries by
white men produced the usual results.

A native whom the authorities described as Jackey
Jackey (with two aliases) was seized on the Upper Hunter
in the winter of 1826, was taken seventy miles to Wallis
Plains (Maitland), and was on the 81st July handed to
Lt. Lowe, 40th Regt., the officer in command. His fate
became the topic of rumour not altogether condemnatory.

Brave men as well as others had arvived at the cowardly
conclusion that the brutalities of the whites were inevitable,
and that their consequences must be condoned or neglected
by the government. Some were insolent enough to declare
that it was the dispensation of Providence that the black
race must be ‘‘stamped out” by the white.

Darling’s own conduct deserves censure. The Attorney-
General, Saxe-Bannister, reported (Aug. 1826) that there
was a common statement that the military had taken upon
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requires preliminary solemn acts; and that to order soldiers
to punish any outrage in this way, is against the law, which
is powerful enough to guard the public peace from any
permanent aggression.” Darling vouchsafed no reply, and
in the following month Bannister was out of office.*

The atrocities which occurred can be only faintly
pictured by the imaginations of those unacquainted with
the characters of the class in whose hands firearms were
thus freely placed, and over whose doings there was no
control. Bannister, cognizant of the atrocities, was deter-
mined to denounce them in England. The Governor
thought some explanation expedient, and wrote to the
Secretary of State (6th Oct. 1826). He spoke of outrages
committed at the Hunter—

¢ A report having reached me that a native, who was apprehended by
the mounted (folice as having been concerned in the proceedings above
alluded to, had been shot while in custody, I immediately gave orders that
the matter should be investigated by the magistrates of the district. This
order, after some delay, occasioned by the absence of Lieut. Lowe, was
acted upon.”

Darling brought the matter before the Council with no
further result than can be gathered from the following
passage in his despatch: ‘ There can be no doubt of the
criminality of the natives who have been concerned in the
recent outrages, but though prompt measures in dealing
with such people may be the most efficacious, still it is
impossible to subscribe to the massacre of prisoners in cold
blood as a measure of justifiable policy.” In one sense,
every Governor except Phillip had subscribed to massacres
which he did not check or punish, and Darling was no
exception to the bad rule’ It is fair to him to mention
that when Captain Wright reported (26th Dec. 1826) his
arrival at Western Port to form a settlement, he added
(after saying that the natives kept aloof) : *“As I am aware
that it is your Excellency’s wish to conciliate them as much
as possible, I have not allowed them to be pursued or
molested in any way.”

‘Saxe-Bannister published documents connected with these events,
¢ New South Wales in 1824-5-6 ”’ (Cape Town: 1827).

8 The author was personally acquainted with many of the aboriginal

survivors of the authorized raids in the Hunter River district, and with
some of those who were settlers at the time.
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To vindicate the majesty of the law, a black man was put
upon his trial at the same session. As none of his friends
were present, and none could have given evidence if present,
“Black Tommy" was hanged without delay. The hearts of
the white men might accuse them, but legal proof was not
available. Amongst those who held the diabolic doctrine
that the shooting of a black fellow-creature was not an
offence, no witnesses against a white murderer could be
found. Perjury was deemed venial in such a case.

It is sad to reflect that early mismanagement at Western
Australia caused for a time disgraceful relations between
the two races. An accidental publication casts light upon
the time. Mr. Moore held a civil appointment at Perth,
and was also engaged in pastoral pursuits. He wrote
letters to England, which were published, without his
revision, as ‘‘Letters and Journals” from Swan River.®
‘He thus described the state of affairs in May 1888 :—

‘“A murder was committed by the natives in consequence of the
following E;ovocation. Some time ago a man who had come from Van
Diemen’s Land, when escorting a cart, saw some unoffending natives in
the way. ‘D—n the rascals,” he said, ‘I’ll show you how we treat them
in Van Diemen’s Land,’ and immediately fired on them. That very cart,
with two men who had been present at the transaction, was passing near
the same spot the day before yesterday, when they were met by about
fifty natives who had lain in ambush, and the two men were deprived of
life so suddenly, that Mr. Phillips (who had been about two hundred yards
behind) was hardly in time to see Yagan thrust a spear into one of them.
s A reward has been offered for the head of Yagan whether dead or
alive.”

One Midgegoro was taken, and there was ‘“great per-
plexity as to what should be done with him. The populace
cry loudly for his blood, but the idea of shooting him with
the cool formalities of execution is revolting.”” Thus Mr.
Moore wrote on the 20th May. On the 22nd, he added,
Midgegoro was ‘‘shot at the gaol-door by a party of the
military. We are all anxious to see how the others will
conduct themselves after this execution, if they discover it.?
. . . there were none of them present at it.”” On the
27th Mr. Moore, with two others, saw Yagan with several

¢ London: 1834.

? The italics are Mr. Moore’s. This publication excited attention in
England; and Captain F. C. Irwin, who commanded the military ia
Western Australia, published another work in 1833.

MM 2
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natives in sight of the military quarters. Yagan was wary,
but bold. To his inquiries as to the fate of Midgegoro
Mzr. Moore would give no reply. Yagan said he would take
life for life. “There is something in his daring which one
is forced to admire,” Mr. Moore said. Though close to the
encampment, neither Moore nor his companions attempted
to capture the chief; but gave information after he was
gone. A strong band was sent out, but it was not by them
he was killed. A white lad, who was received in a friendly
manner at the camps of the natives, went behind Yagan
and shot him. The assassin threw away his gun, and ran
for his life, but Yagan’s companions pursued and speared
him.

. Mr. Moore reported that the man who afterwards pre-
served the head of Yagan also flayed from the body a
portion of the skin. Englishmen might well be shamed
by the doings of their countrymen thus made known to
them by a gentleman who held a high position in the
colony.

Fortunately for the national reputation, the second
Governor of Western Australia, Mr. John Hutt, established
a new order of things, though not before many dark deeds
had been done such as Mr. Moore described.®

Saxe-Bannister’s resignation having been referred to, it
may be well to dismiss him from these pages. Chief Justice
Forbes owed him ill-will for the advice to the magistrates
which (in 1824) excluded ex-felons from jury lists; but
Forbes was not paramount with Darling, who, military and
loyal, could not tolerate the opprobrious epithets which
Forbes was reported to apply to a monarchical form of

® Colonel Charles J. Napier, to whom the Government of South Australia
was offered in 1835, published in that year a work upon Colonization, in
which he denounced the treatment of the natives in Western Australia.
He narrated how a party of soldiers, with the Governor, slew ‘‘from
twenty-five to thirty” and ‘‘ several of the children:’—he described Yagan
as the ‘“‘noble warrior of the Swan River,” no less conspicuous ‘ for
generosity than for his courage,” and added that ‘‘to the hanging of native
murderers, if their sentence was a just one, there can be no objection ; but
to the not hanging of the settler murderers, there are very great objections;
. the savage has no knowledge of our law . . . the settler acts
contrary to the laws of his country; knowing what is right he does
wrong, and does so from a brutal disposition; he therefore appears to be
a fit subject for the heavy hand of\aw. . . .”



SAXE-BANNISTER. 597

government. Forbes also associated freely with members
of the emancipist party who assailed Darling’s alleged
geverity towards the convict class. It was to himself that
Bannister owed his fall. When on good terms with Bris-
bane, he had thought himself justified in refusing to draft a
Bill indemnifying magistrates involved in the ¢“Torture Pro-
ceedings.” He now told Darling that ¢ if the Governor is
doing what seems to the Attorney-General to tend to bring
the peace and welfare of the colony into danger, he is
bound to state his opinion to the Governor.” Darling
replied that he would ask his advice on legal matters.
“On all others I alone am responsible, and I can have no
desire to place you in so unpleasant a predicament as that
of giving opinions on subjects with which you have no right
to interfere.”

Deeming his salary inadequate, and having (he said) no
time to eke out his emoluments by practising at the bar,
Bannister had tendered his resignation unless the Secretary
of State would sanction an increase of salary. Lord
Bathurst took him at his word, and announced that  since
it appeared to be his wish,” a successor had been appointed ;
and Darling wrote to him :—‘ The acceptance of your resig-
nation having been notified by the Secretary of State, I
shall make immediate arrangements for placing the duties
in other hands.”

The retiring Attorney-General® having vainly requested
the Governor to prosecute the Australian newspaper, placed

® Bannister considered himself harshly treated, and printed a defence
for private circulation. He was bitterly attacked in Dr. Wardell's news-
paper, the Australian, and was angry with Darling for declining to
institute a government prosecution of the publisher. He had previously
{June 1826) taken upon himself to caution the Governor against counten-
ancing the press. Darling, it appeared, had invited Dr. Wardell to
Government House. The Governor replied that it was impossible to
suppose that the office he held was in any degree under the control, or
subject to the animadversions of anyone in Bannister’s position. Neither
the King nor his Ministers had thought it necessary to prescribe his
hospitalities, and, without meaning personal offence, he could not persnade
himself that the Attorney-General was invested with any such authority.
Darling, in declining to prosecute the Australian newspaper, said that the
article complained of had not appeared till Bannister’s resignation had
been notified, and ¢ the government could not interfere in sucﬁncase with-
out establishing a precedent which might subject it to serious inconveni-
ence.” Bannister, irritated at Wardell’s unfounded insinuakicns sa s
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his personal effects on board the ship which was to carry
him from the colony, spoke (20th Oct.) for nearly six
hours in a case in which he prosecuted Howe, the editor of
the Sydney Gazette, for libel; fought a duel with Dr.
Wardell on the 21st, and departed on the 22nd from a
wondering society.

The New Constitution Act of 1828 removed the short-
lived institution which in 1825 constrained the Chief
Justice to resort to an ex post facto law. No grand jury was
continued or established by the Act 9 Geo. IV. cap. 83. The
fifth section enacted that *‘ until further provision be made
as hereinafter directed for proceeding by juries, all crimes,
misdemeanours, and offences cognizable in the said Courts
respectively, shall be prosecuted by information in the name
of His Majesty’s Attorney-General.”” Thenceforward grand
juries were withdrawn from the land until their reappearance
in the youthful South Australia in 1837.1° The administra-
tion of justice became a department of State. The safeguard
which Englishmen had fondly cherished as their heritage
from the days of Alfred,—which Blackstone believed to be

obtaining his appointment by undue favour, fought his duel with Wardell.
It is just to state that in a letter to Darling, written at sea, Bannister
regretted that he had not had ‘‘ courage to refuse’” Wardell’s challenge.
James Macarthur (son of John Macarthur), writing to his brother in
England at this period, said :—‘‘ Bannister’s speech (at Howe’s trial)
seemed to petrify his enemies, the chief of whom, I need not tell you, is
Mr. Forbes. He gave a [uminous outline of his public conduct from the
first moment of his application for the office until the day of his retire-
ment, in which he clearly showed the punctilious correctness of all his
actions, and contrasted them most ably with the conduct of Forbes. On
the Torture Indemnity Bill he was most happy both in clearing himself
from imputation and in turning the tide of public indignation upon the
Chief Justice. There seemed to be but one feeling on this subject in the
minds of the audience.” (The speech was made two days after the appear-
ance of the already-quoted article in the Australian, which admitted that
the ex post facto law to indemnify tortures was the ‘‘most desperate of all
desperate powers of legislation.”)

' South Australia afterwards (1852) abolished them by special enact-
ment. The convenience of administering the law by means of a depart-
mental officer outweighs with an executive government the wider but
less visible advantage of interesting the 1\geogle in every branch of its
administration. At a later date the late Mr. Justice Fellows caused per-
missive provision to be made in a Crimes Act in Victoria, by which a
grand jury can be resorted to, but it has been so little used that even the
mode of recourse to it has been made a subject of contention. The roots
of ancient justice failed to infuse their virtues into the branches of
administration.
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guaranteed in terms under Ethelred,)>—which did not sink
with the fall of Harold, and was embodied in the Great
Charter as the right of every freeman, in words which: the
great Chatham pronounced worth all the classics, and the
Bible of the English Constitution,—trial by jury in com-
pleteness,—was thenceforward indefinitely taken from
Englishmen in New South Wales. It is a proof of the sway
of custom that no serious effort has been made to restore it.
Neither responsible government, nor abuse of power by a
government, has to this day roused the people of New
South Wales to the evils they undergo by its loss. It is bad
to lose a prime guarantee for due administration of the law;
it is worse that the people should not be trained from the
highest to the lowest in the duty of administering it. The
taint has spread downwards and numerous stipendiary
magistrates have in great part extruded from petty sessions
the unpaid magistrates who once distributed justice and
friendly counsel to their neighbours. Official routine has
superseded union of feeling. A bond, which was as whole-
some for the country gentleman in stirring his sym-
pathies as it was for his poorer neighbours to profit
by them, has been rent asunder by the craving for
formality and the . servility of a government depart-
ment. But whether Forbes had or had not reason to be
satisfied with the extinction of grand juries, there could be
no doubt as to the destruction of his devices with regard to
common juries at Courts of Quarter Sessions. The argu-
ment with which he had overthrown the resistance of
magistrates in 1824—that as the Act of 1828 was silent
the common law must be held to prevail—was in express
words rendered impossible by the Act of 1828. The 17th

1 ¢¢ Exeant seniores duodecim thani, et prafectus cum eis et jurent.
super sanctuarium quod eis in manus datur, quod nolint ullum innocentem
accusare, nec aliquem noxium celare” [circa an. 990]. Laws of Ethelred.
The reader may find in the great work of Stubbs how under the Norman'
line the liberties of England were guaranteed by successive kings. In
1194, by the Articles_ of Visits.'tion, the recognitors (or grand jury) of
presentment were specially described. Four knights were chosen from the
county. They by their oath chose two lawful knights of each hundred or
wapentake. The two so chosen, chose ten knights of each hundred or
wapentake, “‘or, if knights be wanting, legal or freemen,” ¢ so that these
twelve may answer under all heads concerning their whole hundred or

wapentake.” It was after the visitation of 1194 that the petty jury to
traverse the presentment of the grand jury came into wse.
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section enacted that offences should be tried ‘‘before Courts
of General and Quarter Sessions respectively in such and
the same manner’” as that ‘‘prescribed with respect to
trials before the Supreme Court.”

- When the new Constitution was proclaimed, a Royal
‘Warrant enlarged the Legislative Council. The number
was to be not less than ten, nor more than fifteen. Chief
Justice Forbes, Archdeacon Scott, Colonial' Secretary
Macleay, Attorney-General Baxter, Collector of Customs
Cotton, Auditor-General Lithgow, Lt.-Col. Lindesay, were
the official members. John Macarthur, Robert Campbell,
Alexander Berry, Richard Jones, John Blaxland, Captain
Phillip P. King, R.N. (son of the former Governor), and
Edward C. Close, one of the worthiest men in the land,??
were the unofficial gentlemen of the colony. The Governor
himself presided over the Council, of which the full number
was fifteen. The Royal Warrant provided that in case of
death of a non-official member the vacancy should be filled
from the following leading colonists:—J. T. Campbell,
Hannibal Macarthur (nephew of John Macarthur), G.
Wyndham, A. B. Spark, T. M‘Vitie, G. T. Palmer,
Archibald Bell, William Ogilvie, or William Macarthur (a
gson of John Macarthur). In Sept. 1829, Archdeacon
Scott having retired, his successor, the Rev. W. G.
Broughton (who owed his promotion to the great Duke of
‘Wellington), took his seat in the Council, of which for

12 Edward Charles Close was born 12th March 1790, at Rangamatty,
near Calcutta. His father was a merchant in India. He was a post-
humous child, and was taken to England when eight years old, and lived
with his maternal uncle, Charles Streyncham %olinson, sheriff of the
county of Suffolk, at The Chantry, Ipswich. He was gazetted ensign in
the 48th Regt., 8th Feb. 1808, with which regiment he commenced and
ended his military career. He was present at the battles of Toulouse,
Orthes, Nivelle, Vittoria, Albuera, Busaco, and Talavera, and was unhurt.
He went to New South Wales with the 48th Regt., 1817, and settled in
Morpeth, 1821. He was the first chairman of the Maitland Bench of
Magistrates, and the first warden of the Maitland district. He received
three public testimonials and addresses while living, and the people of the’
Maitland district erected a memorial window in St. James’ Church,
Morpeth, to him after his death. He died 7th May 1866. On one of the
Peninsular battle-fields, as he heard the groans of the dying, he resolved
that he would, if ever possessed of means, build a church for the spiritual
.consolation of his fellow-creatures. He lived to fulfil his resolve at
Morpeth, Hunter River.
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many years his talents made him the most distinguished
member.

Governor Darling’s new Council passed a General and
Quarter Sessions Act (29th Sept. 1829), which enacted that
““free persons’ should be tried “ before the Courts of General
and Quarter Sessions, and seven commissioned officers of
His Majesty’s sea and land forces,”” in like manner to that
prescribed in the Imperial Act for the Supreme Court. By
sec. 5 of that Act (9 Geo. IV. cap. 83), it was provided
that, until other order might be taken, military or naval
officers should be the jurors, and in default of the requisite
number, seven, the Governor should nominate magistrates
to act as jurymen. Thus the emancipist element was
entirely excluded from juries at the Quarter Sessions
Courts. The local legislature had power to pass jury laws,
but the application of juries, even in the Supreme Court,
was limited by the Imperial Act to cases in which ‘‘either
of the parties” in an action might be desirous of having -
issues of fact tried by a jury constituted under any colonia.
law or ordinance. The Court, moreover, had power to
award or to refuse trial by jury. The Supreme Court was
composed of one or more judges and two assessors (magis-
trates). In all criminal trials the juries were military. If
the emancipist party desired to open the door of admission
to juries they were compelled to work in the direction of so
framing the local jury laws as to serve their purposes.
Their hopes rested on the Chief Justice. During the dis-
-cussion of the Jury Bill, Archdeacon Broughton became a
member of the Council (16th Sept.) The Chief Justice was
active in modelling the measure. It was referred to a sub-
-committee (24th Sept.), and was passed (9th Oct.) It
provided (sec. 4) that in all actions wherein the Court
should award trial by jury, jurors should be residents in or
within twenty-two miles from Sydney, having a clear
income from real estate of £30, or from personal estate of
£800; and that ‘“no man not being a natural-born subject
of the king, and no man who hath been or shall be attainted
-of any treason or felony, or convicted of any crime that is
infamous (unless he shall have received for such crime a
pardon, or shall be within the benefit of some Act of
Parliament, having the force and effect of & pardon wodes
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the Great Seal for such crime), shall be qualified to serve
on any such jury.” In construing this clause the magis-
trates excluded all emancipists who had not received a full
royal pardon. The emancipist class fumed when they saw
that no man who had been convicted was summoned. An
order was applied for, calling on the sheriff to show cause
against a mandamus to compel him to insert the names of
certain emancipists. Wentworth and Wardell argued for
the mandamus, against the Solicitor-General on the other
sidle. The application was dismissed on the ground of
irregularity, but the Chief Justice allowed it to be made
known that, in his opinion, the magistrates were wrong in
excluding from the lists persons whose terms of sentence
had expired.

. It may be mentioned, parenthetically, that in 1830
Governor Darling invited the Council to consider the pro-
priety of introducing generally trial by jury. The Secretary
of State wished for their opinions, and Darling was not
indisposed to introduce trial by jury. The Council passed
an amending bill. There were two dissentients, but the
majority would not consent to delay. Disqualifying every-
one who had undergone a colonial or second conviction of
‘““ treason, felony, or other infamous offence,” the bill left
all others whose sentences had expired, or who had received
full pardons, eligible as jurors. When the magistrates
excluded the names of all whose sentences had expired, the
Governor had ascertained the opinion of Forbes that
persons who had ““served their terms of transportation”
were eligible as jurors. The opinion was, with important
exceptions, confirmed by three judges (Forbes, Dowling,
and Burton) who were asked by Governor Bourke in 1834,
at the unanimous request of the Legislative Council,
““ whether a person who has been convicted of a transport-
able offence, and whose sentence has expired, or been
remitted by an absolute or conditional pardon, is legally
qualified to sit upon a jury in England.” The careful
reply which was then furnished was dictated by no political
feeling. It analyzed the various enactments in force by
the dry light of reason. Free pardons, or a conditional
pardon of which the condition had been performed,—
servitude of punishment inflicted on a person convicted of
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by Judge Dowling, and their handiwork was obliterated.
But it was engraven on many minds, and the scars were
not removed for years. It is fair to record the fact that the
libellers had been provoked by coarse denunciation of
themselves as a class. '
In response to a despatch from Brisbane, Liord Bathurst
(July 1825) directed the Governor to prepare, at ‘the
earliest opportunity,” a law to control the press, and
insist upon periodic licenses before publication of any
newspaper. Darling communicated with the Chief Justice
on the subject, and showed him the despatch. Forbes
hesitated to certify under the Act 4 Geo. IV. cap. 96, that
the issue of a revocable license as suggested by the
Governor was not repugnant to the law of England, so
far as the circumstances of the colony admitted its appli-
cation. Without Forbes’ certificate (sec. 29) the Governor
could neither lay before his Council nor pass into law any
measure. He requested the Judge to state how far he felt
himself ““at liberty to sanction the measures directed by
Lord Bathurst.” Forbes evaded the question by saying he
was “ready to certify any ordinance so far as I am author-
ized by law.” Darling sent him draft Bills, and Forbes
declined to certify one which made licenses revocable at the
Governor’s pleasure. He begged that legislation might be
postponed till the law officers in England could be consulted.
He was anxious to avoid setting his hand ¢ solemnly to a
certificate that a measure recommended by so high an
authority as the Secretary of State is repugnant to the law
of England.” Darling replied that the safety of the colony
was endangered by the licentiousness of the press, and duty
forbade delay during tedious reference to England. He
sent the Bills back as those which His Majesty’s Govern-
ment had directed, and which Forbes as Chief Justice was
required to sanction. But Forbes was resolute not to
certify a measure which he said was not consistent with
the laws of England, and which he knew would subject his
intimate associates to the discretion of the Governor.
Darling caused Bills to be prepared in a different form.
The revocable license was abandoned. On the 24th April
1827, he laid two measures before the Council. One—to
prevent mischiefs arising from publications by ‘‘ persons
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not known,” and to regulate publications, and restrain
‘“abuses arising from the publication of blasphemous and
seditious libels.”” The other—to impose a duty on news-
papers. They were both read a first time on that day.
The first measure required that no one should publish
a newspaper after the 1st May 1827 until an affidavit had
been lodged setting forth the names of the printer and
publisher, with the title of the paper and the place of
printing. The Colonial Secretary moved that the name of
the editor should be inserted in the affidavit. Forbes and
Campbell vainly opposed the amendment. A stringent
clause was passed to the effect that on a second eonviction
for publishing a blasphemous or seditious libel, ¢ tending
to bring into hatred or contempt the government of the
colony,” the offender might be banished for such term of
years as the Court might order. Forbes trembled for his
impetuous friends, Wardell and Wentworth, who might fall
within the mesh. He pleaded successfully for pestponement
till the following day. On the 25th the Council passed the
Bill, Forbes being present. The Bill to impose a duty on
newspapers was again postponed. On the 2nd May Macleay
moved, and Colonel Stewart (Lt.-Gov.) seconded, & proposal
that the duty should be fourpence. The Archdeacon moved,
and Macarthur seconded, an amendment that it should be
sixpence. Fourpence was the sum fixed upon. Forbes
was absent. On the 8rd May the Bill was passed, with a
third Bill to ‘“ prevent the publishing of books and papers
by persons not known.” Forbes was again absent but he
was not idle.

The impost of fourpence was deemed a crushing one upon
the publications of his friends. His certificate was required,
and he resolved to refuse it. Meantime the Acts had been
promulgated. On the 80th May the Council met. Forbes
was present with four others; but the Gevernor sent a
message by the Colonial Secretary, regretting that he could
not meet the Council. On the 81st neither Darling nor
Forbes attended. Again the Colonial Secretary carried the
Governor’s regrets to five members who attended. The
manceuvres which led to the abortive sittings can be
surmised by reading the following memorandum which
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Douglass. . . . He has been heard to say that he would have no
objection to sit down with ,'1 , OF , or any other
emancipist gentleman . . . amongst all respectable persons he is
detested. . . . You can have no idea of the operation of these fire-
brand papers upon the common people, and every one not connected with
the convict interest admits that the most dangerous consequences are
to be dreaded. Their present most apparent effect is discontent, deter-
mined idleness, and in many cases insubordination and open contempt
towards their masters and the magistracy. Forbes did not attend the
Council when the Bill was passed. All the other members were unanimous,
though several doubt as I (f(? whether fourPence is sufficient to prevent the
paper from being bought by the prisoners.”

- Macarthur’s evidence, as an eye-witness, is valuable.
There could have been no coolness towards him in Darling’s
“ profound silence,” for the Gazette shows that in June
1827, Macarthur’s sons, James and William, were made
magistrates. Though the Governor kept his own counsel
he was not blind to the danger of retaining the tool of
Forbes in the confidential post of Clerk to the Council. An
honourable man of any opinions may be trusted, but in
such a position a willing creature without high feelings can
hardly fail to be mischievous. As early as Aug. 1826 Lord
Bathurst confirmed Douglass in the situation of Com-
missioner of Requests, which Darling had “ selected for
him in preference to that of Clerk of the Council.” A
military locum tenens held the latter office for a short time,
but it was afterwards filled (in 1828) by the appointment
of Edward Deas Thomson, who was for fifty years to
fill a foremost place in public life and public esteem
in Sydney. Douglass misconducted himself in such a
manner that he was content to obey an order of the
Governor directing him to leave the colony in May
1828. It is proper to mention that the Law Officers
in England thought that Forbes correctly executed
his duty in refusing to certify the Licensing Act, and in
‘“acting upon the opinion he had formed” with regard
to the Stamp Duty. The Colonial Office, however (sec.
21, 22 of the Constitution Act of 1828), withdrew from the
functions of the Chief Justice a power which gave him a
veto upon legislation, and which tended to make him a
partisan. The feelings of Forbes were perhaps soothed by

!* One of the characters whose ill deeds were exposed by Commissioner
Bigge. There is no object in reprinting the name here.
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the fact that the withdrawal was not confined to his own
case. It extended to Van Diemen’s Land. Meantime,
though the Stamp Duty Bill was shelved, the laws which
. had been passed were not allowed to slumber.

The editor of the Monitor, Mr. E. S. Hall, was repeatedly
convicted, fined, and imprisoned. The publisher of the
Australian newspaper, in which Wentworth and Wardell
gave vent to their wrath, was fined £100 and imprisoned
for six months for a statement that in the case of the soldier
Sudds, the Governor had substituted his will for the law.
The contentions of the time were not limited to the Courts.
In the duel between Dr. Wardell and the Governor’s brother-
in-law, which was fought a few weeks before the Bills to
control the press were introduced by the Governor, the
lawyer underwent Colonel Dumaresq’s challenge, and
though both antagonists were grazed by the first discharge,
two more shots were exchanged before the seconds could
persuade Dr. Wardell to make a verbal apology, and induce
the cool but determined Dumaresq to accept it. A turf
club of which the Governor was patron was made the
conduit of the hot passions of the time. Wentworth and
Wardell had, at a meeting of the club in 1827, assailed the
Governor. Darling withdrew his patronage. Recrimina-
tions were exchanged, and Darling brought his power to
bear on those public officials who were members of the club.
Too late the club disclaimed the connection with politics
which they had sanctioned. Dr. Wardell was prosecuted
for a libel stating that the Governor’s departure would be
hailed with pleasure. By the jury law, unless both parties
agreed to have a civil jury, the jurors were military officers.
The officers were objected to as under Darling’s control.
The objection was overruled. The jurors were fruitlessly
challenged in “array.” The imputations against them for
servility were refuted by their conduct. They could not .
agree upon their verdict. Late on Saturday night they
reported that they could not agree, and with consent of all
parties they were allowed to depart until the Monday
morning, pledging their honour that they would hold no
conference about the trial out of doors. On the Monday,
still unable to agree, they were discharged. Personal
animosity so pervaded Darling's enemies that when a dis-
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ordered man, armed with two pistols and a carving knife,
assailed him as he was leaving church, there were to be
found some who agreed that a Governor was to blame, and
that his assailant was aggrieved.

When the Act 9 Geo. IV. cap. 88, arrived in the colony
in 1829, Darling was relieved from the necessity of obtain-
ing the Chief Justice’s certificate that projected measures
were not repugnant to English law. In Jan. 1830 he
amended the stringent Newspaper Act of 1827. Banish-
ment wasnot to be for such term of years as a Court might
order, but might be severe.

If any person shall be legally convicted of printing or publishing any
blasphemous or seditious libel, or any libel tending to bring into hatred or
contempt the Government of the colony as by law established, or the
Governor or Acting-Governor for the time being, or to excite any of His
Majesty’s subjects to attempt the alteration of any matter in Church
or State as by law established, otherwise than by lawful means, or to
adopt any illegal E:oceedings, and shall after being so convicted offend a
second time and legally convicted, such person shall on such second
conviction be adjudged to be banished from New South Wales for such
te:‘lm ta,f years, not less than two, nor more than seven, as such Court shall
oraer.

For publication after such second conviction there was a
fine of £100 for each offence. One can understand the
wrath of publishers at such an enactment, and their deter-
mination to wage war against Darling by impeachment in
England. The Home Government thought the Act too
harsh, and (27th Sept. 1831) Darling carried a short
measure repealing the portion of it which related to
banishment. Publichouses ; the administration of justice;
a census; dividing fences; pounds; the Orphan School
lands; and the control of convicts, formed the basis of
Darling’s legislation. Brisbane’s Act legalizing notes pay-
able in Spanish dollars was abrogated by an Act (1826) *“to
promote the circulation of sterling money of Great Britain
in New South Wales.”

A celebrated Act, known as the Bushranging Act, dealt,
in April 1830, with the crimes of ‘‘robbery and house-
breaking, and the harbouring of robbers and housebreakers.”
It was introduced and was passed in one day (21st April
1830), when one Donohue and his accomplices were at
large. Chief Justice Forbes moved the necessary suspen-
sion of the Standing Orders. = Suspected persons might ha

NX
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apprehended without a warrant, and detained pending
proof, of which the onus was on themselves, that they were
wrongly suspected. Anyone carrying arms might be
arrested. Anyone suspected of carrying arms might be
searched. General warrants to search any houses might
be granted by any magistrate; constables might break in
and enter anywhere with such warrant by day or night,
and on réasonable cause might seize firearms and arrest
inmates. Persons found with firearms, and not accounting
for them to the satisfaction of a magistrate, were guilty of
misdemeanour, and liable to three years’ imprisonment.
All were bound to assist in carrying out the law; which
might be pleaded in all suits against functionaries, and
gave them treble costs if the appellant should fail. Robbers
and housebreakers were to be executed on the day next
but two after sentence. The audacity of the bushrangers
seemed to justify inordinate powers on the part of the
police, and the end was in a few months obtained. The
criminal classes for long years associated Darling’s name
with oppression. It could not be denied that severity was
called for at his hands. Bushranging had assumed alarm-
ing proportions. At one time in the Bathurst distriet more
than fifty desperadoes collected together, and a regular but
indecisive engagement took place between them and the
settlers at Campbell’s river. The police afterwards suffered
loss in an encounter with them.

A reinforcement of the mounted police under Lieut.
Lachlan Macalister hastened from Goulburn and found the
bushrangers at the Lachlan river; Macalister was wounded,
but the bushrangers were not subdued. A detachment of
the 39th Regt. (marched from Sydney at the first intima-
tion of the gathering of the banditti) arrived and the gang
surrendered. They were taken to Bathurst, where ten of
them died on the scaffold. Outrages occurred in other
districts.  Persons were robbed close to the principal
settlements. Donohue, long noted in tradition, established
himself as a terror in the land not far from Sydney.
Governor Darling’s firmness rose with the occasion. Chief
Justice Forbes yielded to the time and was obsequious.'®

5 John Macarthur to his son, 20th May 1830: ‘‘The Chief Justice is
very humble and cringing. . . . The effects of the Act have already
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The Robbery and Housebreaking Act (21st April 1830)
gave unexampled powers to the authorities. Donohue and
his companions after severe encounters died red-handed or
on the scaffold. Two of them, Walmsley and Webber,
stopped the venerable Marsden. While his daughter
emptied his pockets to satisfy the thieves, the old man
seriously warned them against their occupation. If they
pursued it he should ‘“next see them on the scaffold.” His
words were prophetic. In a few days he attended Webber
at his death; Walmsley gave evidence and was pardoned.
The soldier-corps of mounted police, though few in number,
did yeomen's service throughout the country during this
terrible time. Every settler kept himself in readiness to
resist attack.

Norfolk Island had recently been re-occupied as a penal
settlement, and a daring outbreak occurred amongst the
prisoners in 1827. They had intended by a simultaneous
dash to surprise the garrison, seize the arms, and possess
the island. Fifty of them secured their guards and over-
seers as a first step. Four soldiers passing casually
towards the hospital were chased, and only one escaped to
warn the officers. The insurgents then fled to the small
Phillip Island, some miles distant, taking arms with them
in three boats, and leaving only one disabled boat at the
settlement. On the following day the boat was repaired,
and the commandant with a few soldiers pursued the run-
aways. After some firing, he killed three, captured eleven
men, and returned to Norfolk Island with the boats in
which the insurgents had fled. There were pigs and goats
on the small island to support life, but by degrees in sub-
sequent visits, the commandant recaptured all the prisoners
without any loss to the attacking force. A vessel carrying

been magical, and I think I shall be enabled to write you in about ten
days that peace and security are once more enjoyed here. I am preparin,
two other important bills to regulate free an(i ticket-of-leave men, whic
will put these men under so wholesome a state of restraint that we shall soon
become an altered community.” Donohue was shot by a soldier in 1830.
Webber was hanged in Jan. 1831. Dr. Wardell met his death at the hand
of a bushranger in 1834. He found three men on his grounds; and,
though unarmed, tried to drive them before him. One of them was reck-
less and shot Wardell. At his trial the murderer terrified the spectators
by vile language, struck his fellow-prisoner in the dock, and was with
difficulty secured by six constables.

NN 2
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convicts to Norfolk Island in 1827 was seized by them;

- they compelled the master to navigate her. Intending to
go to South America they touched at the Bay of Islands.
Two whaling vessels were there. Their captains suspected
the newcomers. The missionaries summoned the Maoris.
The whalers fired upon the convicts, who surrendered, and
were guarded by the Maoris until they could be sent back
to Sydney.

The case in which Governor Darling’s severity was most
persistently impugned, and which has afforded to some
persons their standard for judging him, was his conduct
towards two soldiers, Sudds and Thompson, of the 57th
Regt. When Darling arrived in Sydney (Dec. 1825) he
found a disposition amongst some of the soldiery to quit
the service in order to become convicts. So captivating
had the rewards of felony become under Macquarie’s sway
that soldiers were known to commit crimes in order by
means of conviction to join the ranks of felons.

The new Governor issued an order (2nd Jan. 1826) to
check intimacy between convicts and soldiers. Of the
former were many thousands, of the latter 1500, in the
colony. In April 1826 two men mutilated themselves for -
the purpose of obtaining their discharge. Each of them
underwent the loss of an arm in consequence of the self-
inflicted injuries. The Governor, instead of discharging
them, detached them as Pioneers at a distant penal settle-
ment. Five men of the regiment had already committed
robberies or maimed themselves, when (Nov. 1826) Sudds
and Thompson openly committed a robbery to procure
their discharge. They were sentenced by the Quarter
Sessions to transportation for seven years. The Governor
commuted the sentence to labour on the roads in chains;
and, to ‘“render their removal from the corps as impressive
as possible,”1® caused it to be effected in the presence of
the troops instead of in the gaol. Stripped of their
uniform, clad in convict garb, with iron collars on their

- necks, and irons weighing about fourteen!” pounds rivetted

'8 ({ov. Darling to Earl Bathurst, 4th Dec. 1826. The sentence did not
relieve the men from further military service.
7 Tt was asserted by some persons that the irons weighed 28 lbs. ; hut the
Colonial Secretary (Macleay) invited the editpr of the dustralian to examine
them (Dec.1826) and they were found to weign 13 Yos. 12 ozs. respectively.
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round their ankles, they were drummed out of the garrison
and marched to the gaol. Sudds was alleged to have been
unwell at the time; he was admitted to the gaol hospital;
his irons were removed. The medical officer reported that
the poor man refused all sustenance except a little tea,
declared he would never work in irons, and wished himself
out of the world. He became delirious (26th Nov.), was
sent to the general hospital, and died on the following day.
The medical officer could find ““no apparent disease’ to
account for the death.

Thompson underwent some portion of the sentence, and
Dr. Bowring (Sept. 1835) presented a petition from him to
the House of Commons for redress. The Governor reported
that much as the death of Sudds was to be regretted it
could not be imputed to severity; ‘‘none was practised or
intended.” But soon he was himself accused of brutality.
When other causes of difference arose the sufferings of
Sudds were brought forward against the Governor.

Wentworth revelled in denunciation, and threatened im-
peachment. As Thompson, the surviving sufferer, was in
good health, it would have been difficult to prove that the
ordeal through which he passed was necessarily fatal, and
the contemplated impeachment served no other purpose than
to envenom the shafts of Darling’s enemies. Wentworth
nevertheless (March 1829), when other quarrels had
occurred, wrote a letter of impeachment to the Secretary of
State. The Executive Council investigated Wentworth’s
charges in May 1829.® Archdeacon Scott, the Colonial
Secretary, and Colonel Lindsay examined the superinten-
dent of the agricultural (conviet) establishment at Emu
Plains; a ticket-of-leave holder who was overseer of an
ironed gang; Dr. Mitchell, the much respected surgeon of
the General Hospital in Sydney; a solicitor; the Governor
of the Sydney Gaol; and Captain Robert Robison, of the
New South Wales Royal Veteran Company. The last-
named, who was a friend of Wentworth, before signing his
evidence, ¢‘submitted his dissent as to the propriety and
competency of the present tribunal to enter upon the
matter.” Darling sent the proceedings of the Couneil with
a report to the Secretary of State.

'* Parliamentary Paper, 1835, vol. xxxix.
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In England the cases of Sudds and Thompson were
investigated on several occasions. Lord Goderich in 1827,
and Sir George Murray in 1829, inquired into them. The
former thought Darling blameless and persecuted, the latter
that there was no ground for complaint against him. In
1830 the Attorney and Solicitor General, Scarlett and
Sugden (afterwards Lords Abinger and St. Leonards),
examined the case, and advised that there was no ground
for the proceeding against General Darling.’® Yet the case
was brought before Parliament subsequently. Robert
Robison was in 1825 captain on half-pay in the 17th
Light Dragoons. In that year he was appointed to the
command of ‘‘out pensioners,” or ¢ the New South Wales
Royal Veteran Companies.”” In 1828 he was brought
before a court-martial on eight charges, for insubordination,
disobedience, and other matters, and found guilty on four,
and in part guilty of three other, charges. He was
sentenced to be dismissed.

The finding was confirmed in England in 1829 and pro-
mulgated in the colony in April 1880. As Robison’s friend
Wentworth knew Sir James Mackintosh, it was hoped that
Mackintosh would take up the case in Parliament; but
Mackintosh having died, Dr. Lushington in 1833 pre-
sented a petition from Robison to the House of Commons,
and asked for the minutes of the court-martial. Mr.
Robert Grant, Judge-Advocate-General, defended the court,
and Dr. Lushington’s motion was rejected after a debate in
which Sir H. Hardinge and Sir James Scarlett supported
Mr. Grant, and Daniel O’Connell opposed him. Robison
wrote a voluminous letter to Lord Althorp, ‘“as the chief
Minister of the Crown in the House,” to contravene Mr.
Grant’s speech. Lord Althorp replied that he was sorry
to be obliged to say that Robison had failed to answer Mr.
Grant’s speech.

Robison sent a memorial to Lord Hill, Commander-in-
Chief. One peer and twenty-seven members of the House
of Commons, including O’Connell, supported it. It was
fruitless. Meantime Darling was proceeding against
Robison for libel. Robison then determined to carry the
war into his enemy’s camp. O’Connell (Aug. 1834) pre-

1 Speech of Sir H. Hardinge in Parlisment, 20h Aug,, 1835.
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sented a petition in which Robison accused Darling of
various misdoings, and in particular of brutality to Sudds
and Thompson. He reported the weight of the irons put
upon them as in his opinion thirty pounds. He was pro-
bably ignorant that they had been weighed in Sydney.
Mr. O'Connell promised to take the matter up in the follow-
‘ing session, unless some other member would do so. Mean-
while Robison (11th Dec. 1834) was found guilty of libel,
and judgment was delayed (by reason of affidavits put in
by Robison) until the 15th June 1835, when Lord Denman,
and Justices Littledale, Patteson, and Williams sentenced
him to four months’ imprisonment in the Marshalsea.
“On the whole of this matter”” (the Court said with
reference to Sudds and Thompson) ‘‘we can see no reason
for censuring the conduct of General Darling.”

Not daunted by this judgment, Mr. Maurice O’Connell
moved (30th July) for a select committee to inquire into
the conduct of Darling while Governor of New South Wales
as regarded Sudds and Thompson and other matters. His
speech was violent. Mr. Joseph Hume supported him.
Sir George Grey contended that the legality of the sentence
on Sudds and Thompson was not a matter which the
House could deal with. Mr. Cutlar Fergusson, the new
Judge-Advocate-General, objected (like his predecessor) to
interference with the finding of the court-martial on
Robison. O’Connell stormily denounced the treatment of
Sudds, and aided by the votes of those whom on another
occasion he called ‘ base, bloody, and brutal Whigs,”
O’Connell prevailed. By 55 votes against 47 the motion
was carried. The committee contained the names of Mr.
W. E. Gladstone, Daniel O’Connell, Sir John Hobhouse,
Dr. Bowring, Dr. Lushington, Henry Lytton Bulwer, Sir
Henry Hardinge, Joseph Hume, and others. Lord J.
Russell succeeded in carrying an instruction to the com-
mittee which withdrew from their purview the court-martial
on Robison, although Maurice O’Connell fought hard for
the privilege of examining Darling’s conduct with regard to
that court. There was hot strife in the committee. Sir
Henry Hardinge protested against converting it into a
criminal court where General Darling was charged with
murder or manslaughter and where witnesses could vt o
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examined on oath. It was * the worst and most democratic
Star-Chamber that ever existed.” Maurice O’Connell had
caused heavy irons to be made as a pattern of those used in
Sydney. Sir H. Hardinge described him as ‘ the member
who conducted the prosecution,” and indignantly told the
House that he would not continue to attend the committee
unless he could be assured by the Speaker that there was
any precedent for a select committee trying a man for
murder. On the 1st Sept. Mr. Tooke brought up the
report of the committee. It stated that

“The conduct of General Darling with respect to the punishment
inflicted on Sudds and Thompson was, under the peculiar circumstances of
the colony, especially at that period, and of repeated instances on the part
of the soldiery of misconduct similar to that for which the individuals
were punished, entirely free from blame, and that there appears to have
been nothing in General Darling’s subsequent conduct in relation to the
case of the two soldiers, or in the reports thereof which he forwarded to
the Government at home, inconsistent with his duty as a public func-
tionary, or with his honour as an officer and a gentleman.”

Dr. Bowring and other members of the committee were
displeased with the report.® On the 10th Sept. he pre-
sented a petition from the soldier Thompson, averring that
he had reached London too late to appear before the com-
mittee, and praying for an opportunity to make known the
injury he had sustained from confinement ““in irons of a
cruel and unprecedented form and weight.”” Dr. Bowring
arraigned the report; but Lord Dudley Stuart, who had
voted for the inquiry, confessed that as the evidence proved
that Darling was not aware of the illness of Sudds, and as
the irons used were neither cruelly heavy nor calculated to
inflict torture —he did not think Thompson’s evidence could
rebut that which had been received. Mr. Freshfield, a
member of the committee (83 in number), stated that there
were only three dissentient voices on the acquittal of
General Darling. Thompson’s petition was ordered to lie
on the table. General Darling was received at Court, was
knighted, and honoured with the Grand Cross of the Order
of Hanover. Robison printed the various debates on his
case with explanatory notes, and Darling circulated the
judgment of the King’s Bench under which Robison was

# Saxe-Bannister placed charges against General Darling in the hands of
Mr. Maurice O’Connell during the sitting of the committee.
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imprisoned, and in which Darling’s conduet with regard to
Sudds and Thompson was pronounced undeserving of
censure.

Governor Darling proved at a very early period that he
was no respector of persons. In 1827, in a Public Order
referring to ‘“an individual ” whose convict servants had
been withdrawn by an order of one of a bench of magis-
trates, the Governor announced, to prevent misunderstand-
ing on a point of so much importance to the inhabitants
and the prisoners of the Crown, that he had been instructed
that the local government was not precluded from making
any necessary regulation ¢ respecting the re-assignment of
the service of convicts,” and that the Governor, ‘em-
powered to assign that service, is fully competent to modify "’
it ““ as justice and good policy may require.”

If convicts should be insufficiently fed or clothed, impro-
perly treated, or suffered to work abroad or go at large,
their masters were liable to lose them. The Governor’s
enemies styled such an announcement tyrannical because
it recognized his power to recall prisoners who had been
assigned or transferred to their wives or friends, and who
might desire to remain in such nominal bondage.

Previous to the introduction of the bill for restraining
the press there was a questioning of Judge Stephen which
deserves to be recorded. He had, in discharging prisoners
brought before him under the Habeas Corpus Act, declared
that he deemed their rights as ‘“ sacred in the eye of the
law as those of freemen;” and Governor Darling inquired
whether the report of his remarks was correct. Stephen
disclaimed accountability to the Governor for his judicial
exercise of his functions, and requested that the letter of
inquiry, with the reply to i, might be forwarded to the
Secretary of State. The Australian newspaper was not
slow to comment on the wretched state of *‘vassalage” to
which it was sought to reduce a British judge and the
Courts of Judicature.

In 1828 Darling appointed a board to assist him in
determining on applications for grants of land, which
became oppressively numerous as immigration and popula-
tion increased. The earliest grants had been coupled with
conditions of residence, cultivation, reservation of tiwakex
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for naval purposes, and quit-rents of 6d. per 80 acres (the
usual grant) in cases of emancipists, and 2s. per 100 acres
from free settlers, after ten years.

Macquarie slightly varied the early conditions. Brisbane
withdrew the cultivation clause, and made settlers main-
tain a convict servant for each 100 acres granted to them ;
and in 1823 he made his grants liable to a quit-rent of 15s.
for each 100 acres.

In 1824 the Colonial Office issued new regulations.
Immigrants might receive four square miles (or 2560 acres)
as a grant. They might furthermore buy land.

In 1826 further regulations offered a return of the
purchase-money of land to those who received assigned
servants, the maintenance of each conviet being valued at
£16 sterling a year, and soon afterwards special regula-
tions invited military and naval officers to settle on terms
which gave free grants for twenty years’ service, and
kindred advantages to junior officers. Grants of land were
also given to native-born-young women on the occasion of
their marriage. The discovery that the Governor’s grants
of land were informal, because issued not in the king’s,
but in their own names, created anxiety in New South
Wales, as well as in Van Diemen’s Land, and much time
elapsed before doubts were set at rest.

The offers of 1826, coupled with the impulse given to
free immigration by Bigge's report and by the condemna-
tion of Macquarie’s ideas, attracted immigration. Public
attention was stirred by Sturt’s successful river expedition.
Swan River rapidly absorbed some 4000 people. But the
grantees could not command labour. Owners of hundreds of
thousands of acres were deserted by armies of hired ser-
vants. Inextricable confusion followed. Starving labourers
clamoured for bread, after abandoning their contracts.
The proprietor of a territory could neither draw income
from nor cultivate it. Little Van Diemen’s Land sent
food and clothing, and carried away labourers. Swan River
pined, and her population dwindled to 1500.

A territory thus occupied was but a feast of Tantalus.
The disappointment of the guests was only not perpetual
because colonists were not like Tantalus—immortal. They

could die, therefore, if they Aid not depart. The Colonial
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Office was at its wit's end. But the new prophet, Gibbon
Wakefield, was ready with his racy periods and sagacious
insight. Lord Goderich could not comprehend the heart
of the matter, but he could play with its outside. Heerebat
in cortice. He issued new regulations abolishing free grants,
and fixing an upset price of 5s. an acre. All lands were
to be sold by auction.®® There was a reservation of the
precious metals and of some minor rights, by the Crown.
Although these regulations reached the colonies before
Darling’s retirement, the consideration of their working
must be deferred. Before his departure he discontinued
the penal establishment at Port Macquarie, and allowed
settlers to proceed thither.

Amongst the principal events during his rule may be
reckoned the construction, by Mr. Busby, of a tunnel to
convey water from the Botany Bay Swamps, and supersede
the use of the reservoirs called tanks used in earlier days
to hoard the water which crept to the bay near Pitt Street.
The mountain road from the Hawkesbury (at Wiseman'’s
Ferry) to the Hunter was completed.

A season of depression followed the excitement of immi-
gration and free settlement under Brisbane, and a severe
drought in 1828-9 brought about a financial crisis. Prices
fell. Live stock purchased three or four years before were
sacrificed at less than a tithe of their original cost. Free
immigration was arrested, and from 1828 to 1830 not more
than 2000 souls, including children, arrived. A scarcity of
grain compelled the government to reduce the rations pre-
seribed for assigned servants, and made the name of Darling
odious to convicts. Rain came to drop fatness into the
earth, and the crops of 1830 demanded more reapers than
the government could afford to aid the settlers. A revival
of immigration and good seasons restored all languishing
interests.

The condition of the legal profession was considered by
the judges in 1829. It was formally divided by a rule made

* Tt is perhaps worth mentioning that, in 1826, Lord Bathurst directed
Governor Darling to grant 10,000 acres of land to the late Governor
(Brisbane) ‘‘in addition to a primary grant of the same amount.” The
original grant was not selected by agents until 1833, and was soon sold.
Governor Gipps in 38 objected to the issue of the additional grant.
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by the Supreme Court, subject to the pleasure of the Crown.
All existing practitioners were allowed to elect whichever
branch of the profession they might prefer to follow in the
future. Admission to the bar was to be given only to those
duly admitted in the courts in the United Kingdom; and
attorneys were in future only to be enrolled on proof of such
admission, or of having served five years in an attorney’s
office in Sydney, or in the Supreme Court.

Barristers had petitioned for the change, while attorneys
had opposed it. The judges had not the vigour to carry
out their own order, until their ranks were strengthened by
the arrival of Judge Burton. With his moral support the
rule was enforced in 1834.%2

A case tried in 1827 was discussed in every household
in the colony; and perhaps deserves to be chronicled.
Frederick Fisher, an emancipist, lived at Campbell Town
in the same house with George Worrell. In July 1826,
Fisher’s sudden disappearance was made known. No inquiry
was instituted, and it was suggested that as the man had
only a conditional pardon, not available in England, he
had gone there clandestinely, as other men were known to
have gone. About ten days after the disappearance,
Worrell assumed possession of Fisher’s property, and in
various ways hinted that Fisher had left the colony. He
sold Fisher's horses, and received money due to Fisher
from neighbours. One of the witnesses, Samuel Hopkins,
swore that no inquiry at all was ‘‘set on foot about Fisher’s
disappearance.”

A terrified man named Farley startled the neighbourhood
by declaring (Oct. 1826) that he had seen Fisher's ghost on
a fence at the corner of a paddock that had belonged to
Fisher, and near Worrell’s house. His story was told to a
magistrate. A constable was sent for. Two native blacks
assisted in the search. Blood was on the rail where Farley
saw, or thought he saw, the ghost. In the direction in
which the vision had pointed, the black, Gilbert (according

# Mr. Justice Therry in his ‘¢ Reminiscences” (London: 1863) confessed
that Burton’s decision of character was needed to enforce the rule. He
adds that the change was advantageous to the profession and to the publie,
and that ‘‘from that time the profession greatly improved in general
estimation” (p. 341).
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to the constable’s evidence), went into a water-hole (or
pool), “and took a cornstalk, which he passed over the
surface of the water, and put it to his nose, and said
he ‘smelt the fat of a white man.””” The blacks led
the constable up the creek till they came to another
creek, ‘“and went up that for about forty rods, when
a black man put a rod into the ground and said, ‘there’s
something here.””’  There a body was found, and
identified as Fisher’'s. Worrell was apprehended, and at
first endeavoured to throw the crime upon four men living
on his farm. At the trial no evidence was admitted as to
the vision seen by Farley; but it is impossible for men,
even when charged by a judge, to exclude from their minds
what seems to them portentous. The seizure of Fisher’s
property, however, by Worrell; the finding on land in his
occupancy of the dead body of the man who, according to
Worrell’s statements, had gone away; the conflicting tales
told after the body was found were, perhaps, deemed eir-
cumstantial proofs. He was found guilty, confessed his
crime, and was hanged (5th Feb. 1827) three days after
conviction. The story has been often told erroneously, and
has been woven into fiction. These facts are compiled from
the notes of Chief Justice Forbes, who presided at the
trial, with the exception of the references to the apparition,
which, although it led to the search for Fisher’s body,
could not be alluded to in a Court of Justice, nor be adduced
as evidence.® Nothing was ever elicited to account for the
vision which Farley described, or to suggest that he pre-
viously suspected foul play on the part of Worrell or others.

Schools of a higher order than the colony had previously
seen were set on foot. In 1830, Mr. Lang, the Scotch
minister, went to England, and stirred up some of his
countrymen to emigrate to the new land of Goshen. He
worked out a scheme for establishing a college under his
own guidance. A Sydney college had been founded locally
by a company with a capital of £10,000, and the founda-

2 The Campbell Town ghost-story, like many others, was garbled in
narration. In the text, current rumours have been corrected by compari-
son with the words of a trustworthy informant, a medical man, who lived

long in the neighbourhood, and attended Farley on his deathbed. He
often conversed with Farley on the subject of the vision which scared

him.
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tion-stone was laid by the Chief Justice (26th Jan. 1880).
Lang was connected with the project, but longed to found
an academy under his own control. The difficulty was in
procuring funds. Already he had quarrelled with some of
his early patrons. He speculated on the poweis of negotia-
tion in Fngland, which he had employed for his own
advantage in 1825. He was courteously received, and Lord
Goderich accorded to him an extension of leave of absence,
which he was sufficiently Erastian to ask for. Concealing
the fact that a college had been founded, and urging the
destitution of the colony in moving terms, he persuaded
Lord Goderich to direct the payment from the Colonial
Treasury of £8500 to himself and his coadjutors for the
establishment of an ‘‘Australian College.”” To further his
plans, Lord Goderich advanced him in England £1500 to
pay for the passages of Scotch workmen to erect the
buildings. They were selected by Lang himself, who re-
turned triumphant. Aware that his devices would give
umbrage to those with whom he had professed to co-operate
in founding the Sydney College, he screened them from the
public gaze. He, who had been indignant with Mr. Wemyss
for not resorting to publicity about the Scots church in the
first instance, discovered that it was undesirable with regard
to a college. He wrote to John Macarthur (14th Nov.
1881): ‘“May I request your patronage and assistance in
carrying into effect the plans I have put into operation ?
.o Most people would have called a public meeting to
have had the principles publicly recognized, but I have so
often seen public meetings in Sydney wander into the dis-
cussion of subjects altogether irrelevant . . . that I
think it high time to attempt the doing of something with-
out a meeting at all.”” He wished for a council of seven
gentlemen. ‘“May I request that you will do me the
honour to form one of that number should you deem
it expedient to lend the institution your patronage 2
Macarthur took no part in the matter, and from that date
the pen which had formerly praised® him was employed in
a different manner.

# In 1827, Lang wrote: ‘“As I have already experienced the benefit of
your friendly advice and valuable influence oftener than once, I beg you
will permit me to draw wpon you in a similar way once more.” = The
subject was the preparation of » memorial fov the Secvetary of State.
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The promoters of the Sydney College censured him in
1882 for intrigning against its interests, and founding
another under his own control. They cited against him
their own prospectus, written by himself, to the effect that
the success ‘‘of the institution was no longer proble-
matical.” Lang’s defence was ambiguous. Having per-
suaded Lord Goderich that to procure the college he must
have the immigrants, he told the shareholders that to
procure the immigrants he was obliged to put forward the
scheme of the college.

General Darling’s government closed about forty years
after the foundation of the colony; and the first immigrants
rapidly disappeared as their children passed into middle
age. The links which bound the memory of all to the
pilgrim fathers were broken in every grade of society.

D’Arcy Wentworth ended his bustling career in 1827 at
the age of sixty-five years, leaving a son whose name was
in the mouths of all. Oxley the explorer, the friend of
Flinders, passed away. Bungaree, a native, whom Flinders
was allowed to take as a companion in exploration, and
whom he extolled as ‘“brave and worthy,”” was gathered to
his fathers. Mr. Balcombe® the Colonial Treasurer died
in 1829, and was succeeded by Mr. C. D. Riddell. Captain
Piper,? whose accounts were in disorder, was superseded
in his position as ‘“Naval Officer,”” and his duties were
undertaken by Mr. J. T. Campbell, under the style of
Collector of Customs. Mr. Mackaness the Sheriff, whose
presiding at a public meeting in 1827, of an imputed
inflammatory character, was condemned, was removed
from office, and Mr. Macquoid, a Java merchant, took his
place. The extension of commerce and of pastoral pur-
suits, which had dated from the adoption of Mr. Bigge's
recommendations, and was aided by geographical dis-
coveries, necessitated an increase of civil establishments;
and many new officials appeared upon the scene. A
Registrar of the Supreme Court was appointed in the

* Mr. Balcombe had served at St. Helena while Napoleon was a prisoner
there, and one of his family published Reminiscences of the captive.

* In 1836, Captain Piper was applied to by James Mudie, author of
¢“The Felonry 0¥ New South Wales,” for a certificate of character, and
gave one.
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person of Mr. Manning. Mr. Roger Therry became Com-
missioner of the Court of Requests. Mr. Raymond became
the postmaster. Mr. Laidley arrived as Commissary-
General.

A new order of things had sprung up; but some of the
old names of the colony were in high repute; and sons of
honourable character were rising to bear the banner of
their fathers. A singular refraction of distant fame glints
through the ordinary social record of Sydney, when one
sees that there was public mourning for the death of
Bishop Reginald Heber in whose diocese Australia was
included. )

When Governor Darling left the colony the population
of New South Wales was estimated to be 51,155. The
ordinary revenue was about £100,000. The wool export
was nearly a million and a-half pounds. Oil was exported
to nearly the amount of £100,000, while the total imports
were nearly £500,000. When the Governor was about to
depart, having held office about six years, there was an
unexpected display of feeling. Chief Justice Forbes, in the
name of the Legislative Council, presented a farewell
address, signed by himself and the other members. They
dwelt on the good feeling between the Governor and the
Council; they assumed their full share of responsibility
for the measures enacted; they pointed out with pride the
advancement towards trial by jury, and the gradual sub-
stitution of Legislative enactments for Executive proclama-
tions. Of the Bushranging Act they said, ‘The expediency
of the act of vigour has in the event been proved by the
restoration of general tranquillity.”” Internal security,
the development of internal resources, increasing com-
merce, showed that the groundwork of prosperity was
already laid. Collectively and individually they expressed
their ‘“unabated esteem’ for His Excellency.

Darling replied in cordial terms to this and other
addresses, from the Executive Council, the civil officers, and
the clergy, magistrates, landholders, and merchants. But
though Chief Justice Forbes might relent—might become
spokesman of goodwill—though all voices concurred in
tribute of grateful praise to the Governor’s wife, William
Wentworth, surrounded by wild spirits, and urged on by
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the sympathies of the emancipist party, which contained
so many elements of evil omen, scorned the weakness of
reconciliation or forgiveness. He invited a large party to
rejoice at the departure of their foe. An ox was roasted
whole at his grounds at Vaucluse. The worser spirits of
those assembled there wound up their orgies by carrying
the bullock’s head in token of triumph, in noisy procession
in Sydney, parading it through the streets, and exhibiting
it under the cabin-windows of the ship in which the
Governor’s family were about to sail. An illumination of
the town was proposed, but rejected by the good sense of
the community. An opposition newspaper was conspicuous
in exhibiting its solitary flames. The coarse display at
Darling’s departure was long a charge against Wentworth’s
judgment and taste.

Col. Lindesay, of the 89th Regiment, assumed the reins
of government until the arrival of General Bourke, who
had been appointed Governor.



